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Financial Highlights
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Corporate Profiles
NGBy

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 603) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment
in natural gas and energy related business. Operations of the Group include
piped city gas business, pipeline design and construction; transportation,
distribution and sale of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied
natural gas (“LNG"); and development, production and sale of crude oil and
natural gas and other upstream energy resources.

As a piped city natural gas service provider, the Group supplies city natural
gas through long-distance transmission pipelines. With 71 concession
rights, the Group has built up city pipeline networks which offer stable and
sufficient natural gas resources to local household, industrial, commercial
and other users. As a non-pipeline natural gas provider, the Group has
established 1 LNG plant in Qinghai Province, Sichuan Province and Guizhou
Province, PRC respectively. Meanwhile, the Group has also built certain CNG
primary stations to ensure a smooth supply of natural gas all year round.
These facilities support supplies of natural gas to cities not yet covered by
pipeline networks and are treated as emergency backup gas sources for the
Group.

All kinds of automobiles, city buses and long-distance buses can be
converted into natural gas operation system by paying an affordable fee.
Some of the provinces will provide subsidy to automobile owners who are
willing to convert their automobile into natural gas operating system. With
support from the PRC government, the Group offers inexpensive, clean and
environmental friendly natural gas to the transportation sector.

As an operator of natural gas branch pipelines, the Group has already
completed approximately 25,751 km natural gas pipelines in 13 provinces,
cities and autonomous regions. Apart from bringing in stable natural gas
transmission revenue, the branch pipelines constructions will also facilitate
the development of projects along the down-stream.

The Group has well established a large-scale developed natural gas transport
and logistics operation in the PRC, including the set up of LNG and CNG
fleets which have reinforced the mobility and coverage of our natural gas
supplies.

As an upstream energy resources producer, the Group engages in the
development, production and sale of crude oil and gas and other resources
in Alberta of Canada. The exploration and production business of the
Group has the proved reserves of approximately 31.89 million barrels of oil
equivalent and the proved plus probable reserves of approximately 50.47
million barrels of oil equivalent. Its average daily production was 5,082
barrels of oil equivalent in 2024. Our exploration and production business
possesses energy business in production, a very experienced management
team with proven tracking records, a stable production assets portfolio and
strong profitability with considerable potential for growth.
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Natural Gas Distribution Business in China
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Oil and Gas Production Business in Canada
MEXHREEZER
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Corporate Information
~EEH

(continued) (#&)

LEGAL ADVISERS

(As to Hong Kong Law)
Li & Partners

(As to PRC Law)
Beijing Huaao Law & Partners

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG
Suite 2805, 28th Floor
Sino Plaza

255-257 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Citic Bank International Limited
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. (Acting Through Its Offshore Banking Centre)

STOCK CODE
603

WEBSITE AND E-MAIL ADDRESS
Website: http://www.hk603.com
E-mail:info@hk603.com
ecomm@hk603.com (for Corporate Communication)
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Chairman’s Statement
EFREHE

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group achieved steady growth in operating results amid
complex economic conditions, made significant progress in market
development, and exceeded targets for all types of customer development,
providing support for expanding market share and business growth. In the
field of value-added services, we built the “Visdom” brand, enriched product
categories, improved the talent organization system, built a “moat,”
expanded overseas channels, and contributed profits to the Group, becoming
a new growth point.

In terms of corporate governance, the Group integrated resources,
formulated solutions for key problems, and improved operational efficiency.
The Group focused on the difficulties and pain points of abnormally
operating enterprises, addressed shortcomings, refined plans, and promoted
a number of enterprises to exceed their net profit targets, putting their
operations back on track, and ensuring the healthy and stable development
of the Group. In terms of marketing management, the Group optimized the
overall allocation of resources, strengthened the three-tier coordination
mechanism, increased the proportion of low-cost resource procurement,
reduced the share of high-cost resources, and controlled the unit cost of gas
purchase. We built a market data analysis database, improved the dimensions
of natural gas sales data analysis, enhanced the level of targeted services,
and strengthened market competitiveness.

Safety management was continuously strengthened, and the Group and its
subsidiaries maintained stable production and operations throughout the
year, with no major production safety accidents, successfully achieving the
annual safety management objectives. Information technology construction
was accelerated, achieving integrated management of marketing, customer
service, and finance, improving management efficiency and level of
refinement. The construction of a clean governance culture was further
promoted, with the issuance of relevant management measures, clarification
of integrity risks, the organisation of integrity activities in companies at all
levels, and the purification of the development environment, providing
guarantees for the healthy development of the Group.
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Significant progress has been made in the construction of intelligent gas, and
the Group and Shandong Shengli Co. Ltd. have basically achieved full
coverage of SCADA and GIS systems, with functions such as real-time
monitoring of stations, precise location of pipeline networks, online
inspection management, and large-screen display of operations, which has
improved production and operation efficiency and management level.
Various companies have carried out the construction of intelligent terminals
such as valve chamber leakage monitoring, pressure regulating box pressure
and flow monitoring, and remote transmission of large meters for industrial
and commercial users to meet the safety needs of gas operation, strengthen
the gas consumption management of large accounts, and improve the level
of intelligent operation in gas services.

CITY PIPELINE NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

Sales and distribution of natural gas

During the year, the Group’s natural gas sales and transmission volume
increased 3.2% as compared to last year.

The Group's natural gas sales volume recorded at 4,584 million cubic meters
for 2024 (2023: 4,575 million cubic meters), increased by 0.2% compared
with the same period last year. Transmission volume was 2,645 million cubic
meters, recorded a 8.7% rise as compared to the same period last year.

Consumption of residential users increased by 4.3% from last year's 984
million cubic meters to 1,026 million cubic meters; industrial and commercial
users recorded 3,178 million cubic meters (2023: 3,160 million cubic meters),
increased by 0.6% compared with the same period last year; gas
consumption of gas stations recorded a decrease of 11.8% at current year'’s
380 million cubic meters from last year’s 431 million cubic meters. Each of
the above categories representing 22%, 69% and 9% of the total gas sales
volume (2023: 22%, 69% and 9%), respectively.

Development of new users

For 2024, the Group connected 86,344 (2023: 128,395) new residential
users and the accumulated development of residential users was 2,128,280.
Total connections for new industrial and commercial users were 1,511 (2023:
1,312) and the accumulated development of industrial and commercial users
were 19,519.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFREHE

(continued) (#)

EXPLOITATION AND PRODUCTION OF CRUDE OIL
AND NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

The Group continued the business of exploitation and production of light oil and
natural gas in Canada. The Group's production in 2024 was 5,082 barrels of oil
equivalent per day (“boe/d”), (2023: 5,469 boe/d).

Reference crude oil prices were 2.4% lower in 2024, with West Texas
Intermediate averaging US$75.72 per barrel compared with US$77.62 per barrel
in 2023. The Group realized a crude oil price of CAD93.62 per barrel in 2024
compared to CAD96.69 per barrel in 2023 with a year-on-year decrease of
3.2%. The Group achieved the average operating netback of CAD30.28 per
barrel of oil equivalent, representing a decrease of 2.9% as compared with
CAD31.19 per barrel of oil equivalent for the same period last year.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

In 2025, the Group will focus on the goal of “stabilizing growth and creating
a second growth curve,” adhere to the concept of high-quality development,
strengthen quality and efficiency improvement, enhance shareholder returns
and cash flow management, make every effort to increase revenue and
reduce expenditure, and comprehensively improve the level of operation and
management. In terms of business objectives, the Group will efficiently
integrate resources, deeply tap into customer value, stabilize the growth of
its primary business, and promote the expansion of value-added services. In
terms of market development, we will precisely plan the development goals
for various types of users, expand heating services, and consolidate market
share. In terms of marketing system development, we will initiate the
establishment of a marketing management system, clarify marketing
positioning, and build a development path and management structure with
marketing management as the core. We will strengthen the three-level
coordination mechanism for resource management, optimize resource paths,
increase the proportion of high-quality resources, reduce sales and
transportation costs, promote the construction of “resource pools,” and
build a stable and diversified resource supply system.
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In terms of value-added service development, we will standardize the
customer service management system, build the “Five Unifications” China Qil
and Gas customer service brand, enhance customer loyalty, precisely develop
products and services, and drive the growth of the second curve with the
high-quality development of the main business. By relying on a unified
production, operation, and customer service platform, we will achieve the
digital transformation of basic functions, build an “intelligent operation
brain,” and enhance operational efficiency and customer experience.

In terms of intelligent gas infrastructure construction, we will deepen the
application of SCADA and GIS systems, and enhance the efficiency and
accuracy of functions such as real-time monitoring of stations, precise
location of pipeline networks, online inspection management, and large-
screen display of operations. Various companies will advance the construction
of intelligent terminals such as valve chamber leakage monitoring, pressure
regulating box pressure and flow monitoring, and remote transmission of
large meters for industrial and commercial users to meet the safety needs of
gas operation, strengthen the gas consumption management of large
accounts, and improve the level of intelligent operation in gas services. We
will formulate a digital upgrade plan and initiate its implementation. We will
continue to develop financial co-ownership, achieve the integration of
business and finance, promote the construction and promotion of customer
service platforms, realize intelligent management of construction projects,
strengthen the development of information security defense systems, and
ensure the safe and stable operation of core systems.

The management will strengthen the customer-centric business philosophy,
improve the communication system, maintain regular communication with
customers, establish customer maintenance records, optimize the supplier
team, expand supply channels, enhance supply stability and risk resistance,
and create a good business environment. We will establish and improve the
price-following linkage mechanism, and give full play to the synergistic
efficiency of all levels. For project companies with high price-following
linkage difficulties, we will set up a joint price-following linkage team to solve
the pain points and difficulties of price linkage, remove linkage barriers, help
improve project operations, and create values.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFREHE

(continued) (#)

We will strive to improve management level, set up special task forces for
business management issues, improve relevant systems, and carry out
focused rectification of these issues. We will continue to advance the
specialized tasks of improving business governance, enhancing the financial
accounting system, perfecting the operational management mechanism, and
strengthening value-driven investment evaluation. We will supervise and
guide companies at all levels to improve their systems, carry out the “Three
Fundamentals” Q&A education and training activities, standardize contract
management, strengthen general purchase and sales difference
management, promote R&D and innovation, and provide technical support
for the Group'’s long-term development.

We will strengthen asset management, comprehensively assess and dispose
of inefficient and ineffective assets, strengthen the internal allocation of
assets, and revitalize stagnant assets. We will build an asset management
system, realize digital management of the entire life cycle of assets, establish
a regular maintenance mechanism, and develop a performance indicator
system for asset operation. We will pilot the introduction of gas pipeline
simulation technology, to optimize pipeline construction plans, reduce
investment costs, and improve the quality of asset operation. We will launch
special research on improving asset efficiency to further optimize asset
utilization.

We will strengthen the talent team, dynamically optimize the organizational
structure, focus on key areas, promote the implementation of the
“benchmarking” efforts in large regions, and enhance organizational
effectiveness. We will identify and cultivate key positions and core talents
based on strategic goals and talent needs, and improve the talent echelon
development system. We will strengthen the selection, training, and
management of senior executives, improve the assessment and evaluation
mechanism, establish a succession system for senior executives, promote the
institutionalization and standardization of talent exchange and appointment,
and build a high-quality and professional cadre team. We will rationally
control the scale of employment, optimize the talent structure, strengthen
the training system, improve employees’ professional quality and ability to
perform their duties, and provide a solid talent support for the Group's high-
quality development.
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We will strengthen corporate culture development. The Group will uphold
long-termism, meticulously craft the “15th Five-Year Plan” with a forward-
looking vision and rigorous approach, charting a clear path for its future
development. At the same time, we will accelerate the development of our
main business, accurately capture opportunities of the times, and lay a solid
foundation for the Group’s long-term development. The Group will
vigorously promote its core values, deeply root the “spirit of ownership” in
the hearts of employees, and embark on a new path of “five
modernizations” with the responsibility of ownership. We will adhere to
value creation, deeply participate in regional integration, and enhance
competitiveness. Intelligent empowerment will drive a leap in new quality
productive force. Diversified development will leverage the growth potential
of the second curve. Internationalization will set sail, expanding the global
landscape. We will practice green development, adhere to ecological priority,
and inject impetus into sustainable development.

In 2025, the Group will adhere to the concept of high-quality development,
focus on core goals, strengthen key initiatives, and comprehensively
improve its operation and management level, striving to achieve sustainable
development and become an outstanding modern energy enterprise.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to all our staff

for their dedication and hard work and to our shareholders for their
continuous support.

Xu Tie-liang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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EHEERR DN

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group and its notes and other
sections in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$17,655 million, representing a decrease of 4.7% from HK$18,528 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The total revenue combined by four segments, namely (1) sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related product, (2) gas pipeline
construction and connection, (3) exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas and (4) production and sales of coal-derived clean energy and
other related products, amounted to HK$14,022 million, HK$532 million,
HK$462 million and HK$2,639 million respectively (2023: HK$14,096 million,
HK$1,145 million, HK$502 million and HK$2,785 million).

The Group’s overall gross profit amounted to HK$2,184 million (2023:
HK$1,971 million), representing an increase of 10.8%; profit for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$181 million, turning
from a loss to a profit compared to the last year. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group has net impairment losses on financial and contract assets of
HK$211 million; net impairment on investment in associates of HK$91
million. The Group counted the above as one-off items and these will not
affect the ordinary operation and cash-flow of the Group.

Administrative expenses were HK$554 million (2023: HK$704 million), a
decrease of 21.3% as compared to the same period last year, the proportion
of administrative expenses to revenue decreased to 3.1% (2023: 3.8%) with
selling and distribution costs recorded an increase of 9.0%.

Finance costs (net of capitalization) slightly increased from last year’s HK$433
million to HK$465 million. The Group’s weighted average cost of all
indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 5.6% (2023: 5.8%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

It is the Group's policy to use the cash flow generated from operations and
appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to expand
business. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total indebtedness (including
bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes) amounted to
HK$8,542 million (2023: HK$7,712 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and time
deposits with maturity over three months of HK$4,348 million (2023:
HK$3,246 million). Total assets were HK$20,696 million (2023: HK$20,841
million), in which current assets were HK$6,515 million (2023: HK$5,836
million). Total liabilities of the Group were HK$13,484 million (2023:
HK$13,279 million), in which current liabilities were HK$5,432 million (2023:
HK$8,632 million). The Group’s net debt-to-assets ratio, measured on the
basis of total indebtedness net of cash and term deposits, divided by total
assets was 20.3% (2023: 21.4%). The Group's financial and liquidity remain
stable, and well prepared for the development in 2025.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant investment
held.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND
JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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(continued) (#&)

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 4,814 (2023: 4,798)
full-time employees, most of whom were stationed in the PRC. Total staff
cost for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to HK$534 million
(2023: HK$534 million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, working experience and the prevailing market wage level. The
total remuneration of the employees consists of basic salary, cash bonus and
share-based incentives. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award scheme.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, senior notes issued by the Company and the
Bridge Loan Facilities were guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

The Group's interests in 195,027,219 shares of Shandong Shengli Co., Ltd.
(L= B I & 15 B BR A 7]), a company limited by shares established in the
PRC whose issued shares are listed and traded on the main board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“Shandong Shengli”) (stock code: 000407), being
22.16% of the entire share capital of Shandong Shengli, were pledged to a
bank to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

Certain property, plant and equipments and intangible assets are pledged for
bank borrowings of HK$158 million.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Under the Syndicated Loan Agreement and the Bridge Loan Agreement, if
there occurs a change in control, the lenders may declare the participation in
the Syndicated Loan Facilities or the Bridge Loan Facilities (where appropriate)
due and payable. The change in control includes, among others:

(@  Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr. Xu"), executive Director, chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company (whether individually or
collectively with his spouse and his or his spouse’s children (whether
through a trust or otherwise)):

(i) is not, or ceases to be the single largest direct or indirect

beneficial holder (holding not less than 25%) of each class of the
Company's equity interests carrying any entitlement to vote; or
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(i) does not, or ceases to (without prejudice to paragraph (i) above)
directly or indirectly control the Group. For the purpose of this
paragraph, “control” has the meaning given to it in The Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs;

(b)  Mr. Xu is not, or ceases to be, chairman of the Board unless replaced
by a person approved by all the lenders; or

() the Company does not, or ceases to:

(i)  own beneficially (and directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of
each class of equity interests of China City Natural Gas
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (F B ZRFIREEEBR Q)
("CCNG"), carrying any entitlement to vote; or

(i) control, directly or indirectly, CCNG. For the purpose of this
paragraph, “control” means the ability to direct CCNG's affairs
and/or the composition of its board of directors (or equivalent

body).

Details of the Syndicated Loan Facilities or the Bridge Loan Facilities are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2024.

(0

(ii)
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of the
Group's treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of the major
objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its exposure to
fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the
Group's policy not to engage in speculative activities.

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group's certain
bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
States dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior notes are
denominated in Renminbi, Canadian dollars and United States dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material exposures
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend of

foreign currencies, consider adopting a significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no material litigation.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was

HK$56,368,038.34 divided into 5,636,803,834 shares of the Company with
a nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events after the reporting period.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, aged 61, an executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board and also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is responsible
for a holistic strategic planning of the Group, leading and supervising the
work of the Board and corporate governance committee of the Company
(the “CG Committee”). He is also the managing director of Shandong
Shengli Co., Ltd. (000407.57), China City Natural Gas Investment Group Co.,
Ltd and Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada and director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Xu holds a PhD of Global Business Administration from
University of Minnesota, USA. He graduated from Xi'an Shiyou University
(71 % A B K ), and postgraduate from the University of International
Business and Economics (3] M4 % & 5 K 2), postgraduate from Tsinghua
University School of Economic and Management (& £ A £ 48 & 2 ), with
a master degree of advanced business administration. Mr. Xu has extensive
experience in energy, investments and management. Mr. Xu is the founder
member of Zhongtai International Charity Fund Limited.

Mr. Xu is the spouse of Ms. Guan Yijun, and the father of Ms. Xu Ran.
He is also the director of Sino Vanage Management Limited and Great Xu
Holdings Limited, companies which have disclosable interests in the shares
of the Company under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO").

Ms. Guan Yijun, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director on 10
September 2010. She was appointed as the vice president of the Company
on 1 September 2006. Ms. Guan is a member of each of the CG Committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Ms. Guan was a postgraduate from Peking University, and obtained a Master
Degree in Business Administration. She has extensive business operation
management experiences over 25 years.

Ms. Guan is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang and the mother of Ms. Xu Ran.

Mr. Gao Falian, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director on 17
May 2021. Mr. Gao is also a member of the CG Committee. He is a senior
engineer, obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Peking University and a
master’s degree in engineering from China University of Petroleum. Mr. Gao
currently serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group, including
China Oil and Gas Investment Group Company Limited* (51 5f #A & 18 & &=
E & R A 7)) (“China Oil and Gas Investment”) and CCNG. He also served
as president of CCNG during the period from February 2010 to August
2018 and president of China Oil and Gas Investment during the period from
September 2015 to August 2018. Mr. Gao held several positions in China
Petroleum Pipeline Bureau during August 1985 to May 2010, including
general manager, commissioner of technical service etc. He has extensive
experience in oil and gas industry.
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Ms. Xu Ran, aged 35, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
November 2021. She has been the manager of investment department of
the Company for over nine years. She is also a member of the CG Committee
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Since she joined the
Company, she has participated in the acquisition of Baccalieu Energy Inc.
in Canada and is responsible for evaluating the investment opportunities
and treasury management in the upstream business in North America.
She also participated in the work of the issuance of four batches of senior
notes in a total amount of USD1.4 billion. She is also responsible for the
external investment of the Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Xu
worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy in The University of San Diego of U.S.A. in 2012 and obtained
the CESGA qualification issued by EFFAS in 2022.

Ms. Xu is the daughter of Mr. Xu Tie-liang and Ms. Guan Yijun.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Liu Zhihong, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 15 June 2023. She is the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee, and
a member of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”). Ms. Liu holds an executive master’s degree of business
administration from the Peking University and is a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Liu has been a senior wealth
management manager of AIA Hong Kong since 2021. She was the financial
controller of Tonking New Energy Group Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 8326) during 2016 to 2020. Ms.
Liu had participated in the audit work of BDO Limited during 2008 to 2012.
She has extensive experience in the field of accounting. Ms. Liu has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Zhongshen Jianye
Holding Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange; Stock Code: 2503) on 19 December 2023.

Mr. Wang Guangtian, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 November 2009. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. He held a master degree in world economics
from the Hebei University and has over 40 years of experience in financial and
administrative management. Mr. Wang is currently the managing director of
Hebei Listed Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd. He was an independent non-
executive director of ENN Energy Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2688) from December 2000
to May 2015.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Yang lJie, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 May 2017. He is a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Yang
held a bachelor degree at University of International Business Economics. Mr.
Yang is currently serving as director of MEC Advisory Limited which is the
sole advisor of Can-China Global Resource Fund, and EMC Financial Limited,
the general partner of Can-China Global Resource Fund respectively. Mr.
Yang has more than 25 years of experience in mining investment and capital
operation. He served as a board member of several Canadian listed mining
companies and senior adviser of several Chinese companies for their overseas
investment. Mr. Yang served as vice chairman of Greater China Mining
Group, a director and an executive vice president of Continental Mineral
Corp. and senior vice president and partner in Hunter Dickinson Inc. He has
participated in corporate financing, mergers and acquisitions for numerous
Canadian mining companies.

EEREGN

(continued) (#&)

BAEE  RNT—®m RZZE—tFhA
TNEEZEABILENTES - RAEX
ZEENE - BAREEEREIINEEKRE -
BEEELTEMN - BGEAEBRNSREFEFTE —
MeEXBRERRESGIEESZREERAR
7] MEC Advisory Limited 2 F Bl — & K 8 %4
ERFESGEE S L BAE P AEMC Finandial
Limted 2 % - A A HFHEB -+ HFH
BEREMERNEELR - BREEEZ RN
EXRLELTBREAFAZESNEZRPBELENE
SMEEREERM - HEBETATERESEE
B AREBEQAAEZEEFMITHRIALE - I
EAHDIEB S RBBHEERA - BE2S
BERMEABEATNEENRE 8 -

FHRREBEER DT 2024FF I

23



24

Report of the Directors
EEHES

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in investments in natural gas and energy related
businesses.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the state of
affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 75 to 223.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Company’s Business

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and a discussion on the Group's future business development, and also
the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2024 using
the key financial performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 20.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those as shown below which are not known to
the Group or may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.

Natural Gas Price Control Risk

The Group is principally engaged in distribution of natural gas in the PRC.
The city-gate price of natural gas is determined with reference to the
wellhead price and transmission charges. In China, wellhead prices for
residential and fertilizer users are fixed, while wellhead prices for industrial
and commercial users may vary from the benchmark price set by the PRC
National Development and Reform Commission. Piped gas end-user tariffs
are determined by local pricing bureaus. There may be risks that the Group
is unable to obtain approval for passing through any increase in natural gas
price which would deteriorate the Group’s profit.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and Canada and its
major transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of its assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in Renminbi and Canadian dollars.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any dividends
it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted into foreign
exchange. The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to
manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The Group does not
consider that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential risk that the Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional
and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

Environmental Policy and Performance

Both the government and the public continue to pay utmost attention to
environmental issues, despite the fact that certain expensive and environment
friendly measures were planned and implementation will soon take place.
More stringent requirements may be put into practice to address these issues.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024 containing the information required under
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to The Bermuda Companies Act. In addition, the Company is
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
and therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the
Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules, including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under
the SFO, the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in shares
and short positions and a register of directors’ and chief executives' interests
and short positions and is obliged to make timely disclosure of inside
information.

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are
concerned, there was no breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on its
businesses and operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long term goals.
Accordingly, the management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events after the reporting period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Friday, 30 May 2025 (the “2025 AGM"), the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 26 May 2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 May 2025.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements and restated or reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 224.
That summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any share during the year ended 31 December
2024.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share schemes as set out in this Report of the Directors and
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year.
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SHARE SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option
Scheme”) at the special general meeting of the Company held on 23
November 2011. The Old Share Option Scheme was expired on 23 November
2021. Pursuant to the Old Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its
discretion offer options to any eligible participant including, but not limited to
any person being an employee, executive directors or non-executive directors
of the Group or any invested entity (including independent non-executive
directors of the Group or any invested entity) and any suppliers, consultants
or advisers who will provide or have provided services to the Group or any
invested entity. Details of the Old Share Option Scheme are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board adopted on 4 November 2011 a restricted share award scheme
as an incentive to recognise the contributions by employees and to give
incentives in order to retain them for their continuing operation and
development and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. The restricted share award scheme was expired on 4 November 2021.

Details of movements in the share options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme are as follows:
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Notes:
The vesting period and the exercisable manner of these share options are as follow:

(i) The vesting period of 30% of the share options is from the date of grant and up
to 21 January 2018 and are exercisable on 22 January 2018;

(if) The vesting period of 30% of the share options is from the date of grant and up
to 21 January 2019 and are exercisable on 22 January 2019; and

(i) The vesting period of 40% of the share options is from the date of grant and up
to 21 January 2020 and are exercisable on 22 January 2020.

These share options were granted on 22 January 2016, the closing price
of the shares on 21 January 2016, being the date immediately before the
date of grant, was HK$0.43. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
share options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme were cancelled,
exercised or lapsed.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the share options
granted under the Old Share Option Scheme divided by the weighted
average number of issued Shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
1.64%.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2023, the
shareholders approved the adoption of the new share option scheme (the
“New Share Option Scheme”) and the new share award scheme (the “New
Share Award Scheme”) so that options and awards may be granted to
eligible participants pursuant to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme
and the New Share Award Scheme respectively. The New Share Option
Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme were adopted on 19 June 2023,
being the date of fulfilment of all conditions precedent.

The principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme and the New Share
Award Scheme are summarised as follows:

1. The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group; the purpose of the New Share
Award Scheme is to align the interests of eligible participants with
those of the Group through ownership of shares, dividends and
other distributions paid on shares and/or the increase in value of the
shares and to encourage and enable eligible participants, upon whose
judgment, initiative and efforts the Group largely depends for the
successful conduct of its business, to make contributions to the long-
term growth and profits of the Group and share in the success of the
Group.
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The participants of the New Share Option Scheme and the New Share
Award Scheme include (i) any employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; and (ii) any
director of the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options and awards to be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme, the New Share Options Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company, shall not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the
Company as at 15 June 2023, being the date of approval of the New
Share Option Scheme and the New Share Options Scheme, which was
563,680,383 shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Such limit might
be refreshed by the Shareholders at general meeting after three years
from the adoption date or the date of Shareholders’ approval for the
last refreshment.

The total number of options and awards available for grant under
the Scheme Mandate Limit at the adoption date and 31 December
2024 was 563,680,383 shares. As at the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the New Share Option
Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme and any other schemes of
the Company is 563,680,383 shares, representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options (including both exercised
and outstanding options) and awards granted to each participant in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the relevant class of the
shares in issue.

Each grant of options and awards to an eligible participant who is a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, under the New Share Option
Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme must be approved by the
independent non-executive Directors.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to an
independent non-executive Director or a substantial shareholder of
the Company, or any of their respective associates (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 0.1% of the relevant class of the shares in issue.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, any granted of awards to
director (including independent non-executive director), chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their associates,
in any 12-month period must not exceed 0.1% of the relevant class of
the shares in issue.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

The option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee and such
period shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the date of grant.

The vesting period of the options and awards granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme shall not be
shorter than 12 months from the date of acceptance of the offer and
the date of grant of awards respectively.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within the time as may
be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the
offer date) and the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by the
way of consideration for the grant.

The subscription price, which a grantee may subscribe for the share
on the exercise of an option, shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall be not less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; and (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant. The award shares will be
granted to the eligible participants at nil consideration.

the New Share Option Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date of
adoption, i.e. 19 June 2023.

No share options and awards were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme since their adoption.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-Laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities (including the sale of treasury shares)
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the amount standing to the credit of the
Company’s share premium account in the amount of HK$13,208,000 may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares, and the Company'’s
contributed surplus account in the amount of HK$1,447,454,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:
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The percentage of the turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined were less than 30% of the total turnover of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholders (who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests in
the Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. GAQ Falian

Ms. XU Ran
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. LIU Zhihong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG lJie

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Xu Tie-liang, Mr.
Gao Falian and Mr. Wang Guangtian shall retire from office as Directors by
rotation at the 2025 AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the 2025 AGM.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

Each of the independent non-executive Director has provided his/her annual
confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “SHARE SCHEMES"” and
“DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES” in this report and in notes 31(c) and 31(d) to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Xu Tie-liang entered into a service contract with the Company on 29
March 2023 for the continuous appointment as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from 10 April 2023.

Ms. Guan Yijun entered into a service contract with the Company on 27

March 2024 for the continuous appointment as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2024.
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Mr. Gao Falian entered into a service contract with the Company on 27
March 2024 for the continuous appointment as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from 17 May 2024.

Ms. Xu Ran entered into a service contract with the Company on 2 November
2021 for the appointment as an executive Director for a term of three years
commencing from 2 November 2021. On 21 March 2025, Ms. Xu Ran has
signed a renewed service contract for a term of three years with retrospective
effect from 2 November 2024.

Ms. Liu Zhihong signed a letter of appointment issued by the Company on
15 June 2023 for the appointment as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years commencing from 15 June 2023.

Each of Mr. Wang Guantian and Mr. Yang Jie signed a letter of appointment
issued by the Company on 27 March 2024 for the continuous appointment
as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three years with
retrospective effect from 1 January 2024.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Group or any of its subsidiaries was a party subsisted
at 31 December 2024 or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required to notify to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), are set out below:

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
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Approximate
percentage of

HEAR O RES 2w

Number of  the Company’s
Long position/ ordinary shares issued share Amount of
Name of Director Capacity short position Notes held capital debentures held
HARBE BT
EEpns 14 e/ %A e BEZERYE BREABHAEIL FisESEE
XU Tie-liang Beneficiary of a trust  Long position 1,2 1,592,634,130 28.25% US$1,600,000
AR ERXEA S} 1,600,000% 7T
Interest in controlled Long Position 2 — — US$2,000,000
corporations
REHER 2 s e 2,000,000% 75
GUAN Yijun Interest of spouse Long position 1,2 1,592,634,130 28.25% US$1,600,000
WRE REEs e 1,600,000% 7T
Interest of spouse Long position — — — US$500,000
[t A 500,000% 7T
Interest of controlled  Long position 2 — — US$1,500,000
corporation
REGER 2 e 1,500,000 J©
XU Ran Beneficial owner Long position 500,000 0.01% —
A ExEAA e
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Notes:

Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr. Xu") is the beneficiary of The Great Xu Fund Trust, a trust
managed by TMF (Cayman) Ltd.. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee holds the entire
issued share capital of Great Xu Holdings Limited (“Great Xu") which acquired
the entire issued share capital of Sino Vantage Management Limited (“Sino
Vantage”) on 22 January 2021, which in turn holds 1,592,634,130 shares of
the Company (the “Shares”). Therefore, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in
1,592,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO. Ms. Guan Yijun (“Ms. Guan”) is the
spouse of Mr. Xu, therefore, Ms. Guan is also deemed to be interested in the
said 1,592,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO.

An amount of US$1,500,000, US$500,000 and US$1,600,000 of the
US$400,000,000 4.7% senior notes of the Company due 2026 is held through
Moral High Limited, which is owned by Mr. Xu and Ms. Guan as to 50% each,
Alpha Finance Holdings Limited, a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Xu,
and Sino Vantage respectively.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO), or were recorded on the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors and chief executives,
the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

FERR

RZZBE-_WNE+-_A=+—H0  REEHFK
HEGRPIEBHRBARFEZEIZERRE
AEMBER  BREXHABEETEERTIE
TBRABZHERN WTRREEMARAE
RRRBBETRASD 2 HEER
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RABRG K AR 2 EH

Approximate

Number of percentage of the
Long position/ ordinary shares Company'’s issued
Name of shareholder Capacity short position held share capital
NGRS &y
BREEEEB &1 BR KR BEEERHE RAEBQOE D
Sino Vantage Beneficial owner Long position 1,592,634,130 28.25%
BEmEAA S5
Great Xu Interest in controlled Long position 1,592,634,130 28.25%
__corporations
REHERE S B
TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee Long position 1,592,634,130 28.25%
2FEA He
Note: Wit -

These 1,592,634,130 Shares are held by Sino Vantage, which is wholly-owned by Great
Xu, which in turn wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd.. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. managed
Great Xu in which Mr. Xu is the beneficiary. Therefore, each of Great Xu and TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Sino
Vantage interested.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as having
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as at 31
December 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section
470 of the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had entered into
certain related party transactions but these transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of
these related party transactions are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 41 to 64 of the annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), which is currently
made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Liu Zhihong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang
Jie. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and is of the opinion that
such financial statements complied with the applicable accounting standards,
the Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditor of the Company with effect
from 9 October 2024, and KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company
to fill the vacancy with effect from 5 November 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in auditor of the Company
during the past three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2025 AGM to re-appoint KPMG as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Oil And Gas Group Limited
Xu Tie-liang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has all along committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
shareholders by ensuring that the proper processes for supervision and
management of the Group’s businesses are duly operated and reviewed and
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was in compliance
with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the
deviations as explained below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. Mr. Xu Tie-
liang is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met all relevant code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. GAO Falian

Ms. XU Ran

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. LIU Zhihong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG Jie

Save for Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang and Ms. Xu Ran is
the daughter of Mr. Xu Tie-liang and Ms. Guan Yijun, the Board members
have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. Such balanced Board composition is formed to ensure
strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of the Board
reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 21 to 23
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group’s financial performance and management. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of
operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and
the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
rules and regulations.

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31

December 2024 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

Name of Director
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Attending or participating in
seminars/inhouse briefing or
reading materials relevant
to the Group’s business/
director’s duties

HESRSEESEEER

EEREHEZEE

EEng RBEBEREEAE R
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR B v
Ms. GUAN Yijun Ms®AELLT 4
Mr. GAO Falian A 4
Ms. XU Ran FFA B+ v/
Ms. LIU Zhihong BlET 2+ v/
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLSE 4
Mr. YANG Jie BAEE v

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer,
and Mr. Xu Tie-liang currently performs these two roles. The Board believes
that by taking the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person, it has the benefit of maintaining a consistent leadership
and enables a more effective and efficient overall strategic planning within
the Group. The Board believes that the present arrangement will not impair
its balance of power and authority, and this is ensured by current Board
members, which comprise experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors.
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Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are high caliber individuals,
with academic and professional qualifications and experience in the fields
of accounting, finance and investment. With their accumulated experience
gained from various sectors, they can provide strong support towards
the Board’s effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities. Each
independent non-executive Director has provided his/her annual confirmation
of independence to the Company, and the Company considered that each
of them is independent based on the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for specific term and subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 26 August 2013 (the
"Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve its diversity. The Company
recognises that increasing diversity at Board level will support the attainment
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own
business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegates certain duties to the Nomination Committee under the
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the necessity to
set measurable objectives for the implementation of the Policy from time to
time, to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards these
objectives are achievable and ascertainable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
its continued effectiveness from time to time.
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BOARD LEVEL

Pursuant to the Policy, selection of candidates for Board appointments will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the Policy annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four male members
and three female members. The Nomination Committee considered that the
Board was sufficiently diverse in terms of gender and the Board had not set
any measurable objectives. The Company has also reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion that the
structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and skills of the
Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the Company to maintain a
high standard of operation.

The Group is also committed to achieving gender diversity across the
workforce (including senior management). The details of gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management) are shown in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
recruitment policy of the Group is to only consider the personal merits and
capabilities, qualifications, working experiences and performance of the
individuals during the recruitment process, transferal, promotion, and training
regardless of gender. In the interests of enhancing efficiency, the Company
has not set any measurable objective for achieving gender diversity at
workforce level. The Company has nonetheless always adopted a meritocratic
approach and adhered to the principle of openness and fairness without
any discrimination in respect of gender, disability, marital status, pregnancy,
religion, nationality, social or economic class, rural or urban, political opinion,
pathogen-carrier or sexuality.

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings held quarterly each year, and
additional meetings will take place as and when required. These Board
meetings are planned in advance. During the regular meeting, the Board
examines the Company’s operation and financial performance, reviews and
approves its annual and interim results.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board held 7 meetings. All
Directors were given opportunities to include any matters in the agenda
for the regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in the Board
meetings.

Name of Director

BHE-_Z_N&EF+_A=Z+—BILtEE B
ERERITTAEE - IEESTHAKSIE
ARNZEMANEETRTHSEZBRERN - Wk
REZSIHHEIREZTRTEZR TR
EEBBZHEMER -

Number of attendance

BEEnE HESBXRH
Mr. XU Tie-liang FTERR ST 717
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EERITHABR)
Ms. GUAN Yijun AREZT 717
Mr. GAO Falian mEELAE 717
Ms. XU Ran AL 717
Ms. LIU Zhihong BRI+ 717
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEBLE 717
Mr. YANG lJie BAREE 717

Board minutes are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board
member is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board adopted on 29 March 2023 a mechanism for Directors to obtain
independent opinions and perspectives for them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, and to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board.

The Company shall arrange suitable and sufficient resources to cover any
matters relating to the obtaining of an independent opinion by the Board,
including but not limited to the engagement of a legal team or any other
professionals for such purpose (where appropriate).

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the said
mechanism during the year and considered that it has been operating
effectively and will continue to monitor its implementation and effectiveness
on an annual basis.

The Directors shall give at least three working days’ notice to the Company

Secretary to obtain an independent opinion, including but not limited to
engaging a professional team for such purpose (where appropriate).
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The Board is required to review its structure, size, composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) and the policy at least annually to ensure
that the composition of the Board complies with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules including maintaining a balanced mix of executive and
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) so
that the Board has a strong element of independence which can effectively
exercise independent judgment.

If all the independent non-executive Directors have served on the Board
for more than nine years, the Company should consider to appoint a new
independent non-executive director at the next annual general meeting.
General Meeting

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held 1 general

meeting, being the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June
2024 (the “2024 AGM").

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

BEEnE HESBRAXH
Mr. XU Tie-liang FFERR EAE 1/1
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EERITEAAZ)
Ms. GUAN Yijun AREZT 1/1
Mr. GAO Falian mEELAE 1/1
Ms. XU Ran PR 1/1
Ms. Liu Zhihong BIE A 2+ 1/1
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREALE 1/1
Mr. YANG lJie BAREE 1/1

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, making use of the annual general meeting
or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. Mr. Xu Tie-liang, being the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the CG Committee, attended the 2024 AGM and answered
questions and collected views of shareholders.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board takes into account
the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the natural gas industry
and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 15 March 2006
and currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wang Guangtian (as chairman) and Ms. Liu Zhihong and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Gao Falian.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor the
structure, size and diversity of the Board; to provide recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board in order to complement the Group'’s strategy;
to identify qualified individuals in becoming members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive directors; to review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the Policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives; and to provide recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation
of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.
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The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the
effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular,
are set out as follows:

(a

participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in the
Board/committee meetings;

scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
held 1 meeting. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and considered and provided recommendations to the
Board on the re-election of Directors.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

HESERE

BEEHS

Mr. WANG Guangtian (Chairman) TERELE(EE)
Ms. LIU Zhihong BlEL L

Mr. GAO Falian mEE LA

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13 January 2006
with written terms of reference and currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Zhihong (as chairman) and Mr.
Wang Guangtian, and one executive Director, namely Ms. Guan Yijun.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.
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The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to provide
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy,
the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management, the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating the
remuneration policy, and to review and/or approve matters relating to shares
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
held 1 meeting. The committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management.

Name of Director
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HEEERE

Ms. LIU Zhihong (Chairman) BIFEaI e+ (£ /E)

Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLEE
Ms. GUAN Yijun MSE L+

The Company has adopted the Old Share Option Scheme, the New Share
Option Scheme and the New Share Award Scheme. Details of these share
schemes are set out in the section headed “SHARE SCHEMES” in the Report
of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under code
provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make recommendations to the Board
on remuneration packages of the Directors and the members of senior
management. The emolument payable to Directors and senior management
will depend on their respective contractual terms under the employment
agreements, if any, and is determined by the Board with reference to the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the
Group and the prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024, by bands is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are also set out in notes 10 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Liu Zhihong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company'’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any area
of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and
annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices,
but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual
reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held 6
meetings.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

BEE®S HESBXRE
Ms. LIU Zhihong (Chairman) BIEMALZE (EE) 6/6
Mr. WANG Guangtian FREEAL 6/6
Mr. YANG Jie HARE A 6/6
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed
the 2023 annual results and 2024 interim results of the Group, and were
in the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
also discussed the key audit issues relating to the audit of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company and consider the
appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company during the year.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and also noted that review of the same will be
carried out annually.

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024 were audited by KPMG
whose term of office will expire upon the conclusion of the 2025 AGM.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement of KPMG,
inter alias, (i) the size and structure as well as the nature and complexity of
the business of the Group, (i) the relevant audit fees and (iii) the resources
deployed by KPMG in respect of the audit of the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with “Guidelines for the Effective Operation of Audit
Committees — Selection, Appointment and Reappointment of Auditors”
published by the Financial Reporting Council on 16 December 2021 and
recommended to the Board the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditor of
the Company at the 2025 AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the CG Committee with written terms of reference
on 20 March 2012. The CG Committee comprises four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Xu Tie-liang (as chairman), Ms. Guan Yijun, Mr. Gao Falian and
Ms. Xu Ran, Ms. Law Yin Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company and Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella, the Company Secretary of the
Company.

Terms of reference of the CG Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.
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The functions of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; to comply
with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make
recommendations to the Board; to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director; to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the CG Committee
held 1 meeting. The CG Committee reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; and also
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Name of Director

XERZEEMBERDE R QA H
NEEERNBRREER  EThEERT
AIREMERREERTE  YAEZEREHR
HEEZ ERQRFEFTARTHE A
VEEEERaRERENEIRSEEE
BR:HE RINEEEEREZTEAN
BOTHREHAFM WA KT QA
REXERBEANKESE -

BE_Z_MF+_A=+—-BIHEKF
B LXRERZRESEHRTINERE - bXE
REEBERISEENEAREEENTII RS
BEXERR MRHQARARBE_T_=

i—i— Hfﬂ— BLEFEEETEEXERTH
M 15

Number of attendance

HESRERE

Esps

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman) FFEkR L (/)
Ms. GUAN Yijun HEE L+

Mr. GAO Falian mEEE A

Ms. XU Ran AR T

Ms. LAW Yin Shan Jenny EEM T

Ms. CHAN Yuen Ying Stella BoR 90 % 20 &=

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor is
set out below:

Services rendered

1Al
I7Al
I7Al
VAl
I7Al
VAl

AT <

REER BN/ EBARZEKMA 2SR
T

Fee paid/payable

Frig AR 3% BN ENEAR
HK$'000

FET

Audit services EIZRTE 4,588
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 203
4,791
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan"), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Law Yin
Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the primary point
of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance between
retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth and rewarding the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the following
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

—  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity
position and future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws, the Listing Rules and
any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio.
The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as a
reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or
paid by the Company in the future.
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The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment
by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the
Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting. The Board may
call special general meetings whenever it thinks fit.

Shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act of Bermuda. The procedures that shareholders can use to convene a
special general meeting are set out in the document entitled “Procedures
for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is
currently available on the Company’s website.

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board
Shareholders of the Company may send written enquires to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of

business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by shareholders at
shareholders’ meeting

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a
proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@ any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.
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A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
notice of the proposed resolution or circulating any necessary statement, at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks
before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the
requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the necessary
procedures.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at
the general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in
good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural
or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the
resolutions to be set out in the notice of 2025 AGM will be voted by poll.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and reasonable disclosure of information to its shareholders (the
“Shareholders”).

The Board adopted a Shareholders communication policy on 20 March 2012
(the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) which sets out the provisions
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, and, in appropriate circumstances, the investment community
at large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments and
governance), in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the investment community
to engage actively with the Company.

General Policy
The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and

the investment community, and will regularly review the Shareholders
Communication Policy to ensure its effectiveness.
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According to the Shareholders Communication Policy, there are multiple
channels for information of the Company to be disseminated to Shareholders,
which are included in the following manners:

. Delivery of annual and interim reports to all Shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results, and
issue of other announcements, shareholders’ circulars, its corporate
communications and other corporate publications in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website; and

J The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders and the
investment community shall be ensured at all times.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the CG
Committee attended the 2024 AGM to answer questions of the meeting and
collect views of shareholders.

Communication Strategies
Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Shareholders and the
investment community may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available. Shareholders
and the investment community shall be provided with designated contacts,
email addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable them to
make enquiry in respect of the Company.

Corporate Communication

Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding.

Corporate Website

A dedicated Investors Relationship section is available on the Company’s

website. Information on the Company’s website will be updated on a regular
basis.
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Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange will also be
posted on the Company’s website according to the requirements under
the Listing Rules. Such information includes financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings etc.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in all general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote for and on their behalf if they are unable
to attend any general meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the general
meetings shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The
process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and reviewed
on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to ensure that
Shareholders’ needs are best served. Board members, in particular, the
chairman of the Board, the chairmen of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives and external auditor will attend annual
general meeting to answer Shareholders’ enquiries.

Shareholder Privacy

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy and will
not disclose Shareholders’ information without their consent, unless required
by law to do so.

The Board has conducted a review of the Shareholders Communication
Policy for the year ended 31 December 2024 to ensure the effectiveness of
the Shareholders Communication Policy. Such review shall be conducted
annually. The Board considered that the Shareholders Communication Policy
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was effective.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group, its financial performance
and cash flows for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and prepared the
accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group, to prevent and detect fraud, as well as
other irregularities.
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The Directors, after appropriate enquiries were made, considered that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group complied with Principle D.2 of the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the

following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

J Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024, no significant risk was
identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out the internal control across the Group.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024

EERFHEEENRR  RREBERKE
BRABKRBERLE  AUHRAFELE
EERUGEMBERRTIBAE -

| B i 3 R PO B 4

FA - SEHLHRVBAERERNEREE R
NHEZERGETEEERTHERD2 -
EEERERSTRAR IR BELERE
MEEREELEEEEERBENTERE -
RiEERAMEZERSFHTESTHR T
BEFHA

EREERLG
SECRN - BERBREEABRAEEAEE

EBREENRR - ZEASNBRUATER

o HBl: BAREKRMERE -
AREFERREANEAR

EBERER

« M HNARNTRERYEL YA
BB 2 i AR R AP A -

e ETE:EZEEAREYH HREEFR
B B B 17 RUB B 5 B B R R AR
R o

RER-_Z_NFETHRRTMGE - HER
AEmMBEERR -

REBE R RS

NBBEHERS ([COSO)) AT —ZF %
EEER APEE RS - ZIERAEES
EEREEAERMEREENE MBREATE
MRETEAZNRAFNBEZE - ZEZXESH
AT R BMmAERK

s EERS: REEMARAMEERMHE
R —ERE - BAREE -



Corporate Governance Report

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Activities established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives are carried out, objectives are
achieved, and risks are mitigated.

o Information and Communication: To provide the Group’s internal and
external communication, together with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of the internal control is present and functioning.

The announcement of the Company dated 27 June 2024 regarding further
information on the financial results for the year ended 31 December 2023
sets out in detail the background and causes of the audit adjustments in
previous years (the “Matter”). The management of the Group that is highly
concerned of the Matter carried out a self-review at the head office and
subsidiary levels, and increased the number of staffs in the preparation
of financial statements and the supervision of internal controls. The
management is determined to strengthen and improve the internal control
system to avoid the occurrence of the same thing in the future.

Subsequently, the Company made announcements on strengthening internal
controls on 12 July 2024 and 21 November 2024 respectively, proposing
a series of measures to strengthen internal controls and stating that the
Company had engaged an international professional firm (the “Consultant”)
in August 2024 to conduct a comprehensive and independent assessment
on the Matter and the related internal control system and processes. The
Consultant focuses on five key internal processes, namely (i) recognition of
revenue from natural gas pipeline connection and construction services; (ii)
construction project management; (iii) project cost management; (iv) capital
and related cost management; and (v) preparation of financial statements, so
as to determine any identified internal control deficiencies as the root cause
of the Matter and provide recommendations for improvement.
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The Consultant spotted a number of internal control issues during the first
phase of the work and conducted a risk assessment in accordance with the
impact on the amounts in financial statements and the nature of the internal
control issues. The high-risk internal control areas were related to the revenue
and cost associated with construction services and the monitoring of the
progress of construction works. For instance, the accounting standards for
the carrying forward of revenue/cost from the Group’s natural gas pipeline
connection and construction services need to be improved, and the statistical
ledger accounts and the audit process for construction progress needed to
be further strengthened. The medium-risk internal control areas involve the
interest capitalization adjustment process and contract management, etc.
The relevant management system should be improved and strengthened.
The Group’s management took the identified internal control issues seriously
and put efforts and sufficient resources to implement any necessary remedial
and corrective measures with the designated responsible parties within
the expected timeframe for completion of the rectification. Moreover, the
Group’s management closely monitored the rectification process to ensure
that the necessary rectification was completed by 31 December 2024 based
on the Consultant’s internal control assessment results.

According to the results of the Consultant’s Phase Il rectification
assessment, as of 14 March 2025, the Company had substantially
completed the rectification in accordance with the Consultant’s rectification
recommendations. The Board is of the opinion that the internal control
issues in the high-and medium-risk areas, as rectified, have had less expected
impact on the financial reporting and that effective internal control over
financial reporting has been maintained in all material respects.

The Consultant organized a training session for the Group’s management on
14 March 2025, covering topics such as the importance of internal control,
the latest regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange, and the post-
rectification publicity.

The Company itself has also strengthened the training on management
requirements for relevant staff in various departments and organized a series
of training courses on related topics, including the Group’s Hong Kong
Audit Rectification Training Session held on 8 November 2024, and the
training on Hong Kong Audit Rectification and Management Standardization
Requirements, the new Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and
the Group’s Accounting Manual held at the Annual Financial Accounting
Meeting on 6 December 2024. In the future, the Company will continually
strengthen the supervision and inspection of corrective measures to ensure
the effective implementation of these measures.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024

BERARESE BBRNIEPHBETETRA
HEEBE  TERBREVRSCETYERRNE
MENMHEETRRTG  EPaRBOA
HERERSRBERFWAEKER - T2
HEEEREIE  NEBRARAI[TEEER
BERBUBRA KN AEEN S ZEEEE
AEHRTE  BEIBREELRTAERIR
ERRBEREE-—ITIMAS PRARMNANIBE
TEHSRFEEAARRRERERER
£rE HEERIEESFESZNRE -
HEHBBHMAEME  SETEEBEFE
BIYBRAZBIERHANER @ BEEMNE
R ERBERERNEAEEER —BATEM
VEMBYEBERERE - LH  SEEREE
TYEBBENARE UREEEERATR
eI EERE T -_NE+ -/ =+—
HARISER M BRI -

BHARFE —EENERRETFHERER
BHEE-_Z_AF=A+WMA ' 2AE&EK
BEBAAMNEREEEATK TER - A
EEZRRA s RTREBREDNANEDBEL
BENE  HUBREHBHTER/)
BEEMBERTEARBETEXANTBRER

e -

BRARAR-_Z_AF=-—ATHBEHEERE
BEEETTEI  REIBEBEAZEEN -
BXAEREERER  ERENREREEE

= o
=T

REIBHEMNET SHBAIEBEABRHERR
KWBIEE  WHEMBEERMR K5
BAIRE  BEEER-_Z_HF+—AN
HESBHREAEA BRI EEREIE -
RZB-_MOF+_RARNBEFEMBAES
ITHEMNEBSABURERBRBLER
FhEETEL - RESHFMIEAEI -
RE - RAIGHEHEBERROEEMNRE
BRE - UHRREBIENERAEZEM



Corporate Governance Report

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information
policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of
the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on internal control reviews conducted in 2024, no significant control
deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA") function, which consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control system
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.
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An A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually, and afterwards the results are reported to the Board via
Audit Committee.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and ensuring review of the system’s effectiveness is conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment, and (i) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control system.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
system were effective and adequate. Such system, however, is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Oil and
Gas Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 75 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit loss assessment of loans receivable from an associate

BT HRREEERIARE
(RERZALMELAH R A

BARET S

ARBAFEERERMANERHEG - RA
HBAMGEMBREANEITZRREERNEE -
ELEHREAMNBABRERAMBERR
HABREETREN - RMATEHELS

BERHEEBNER -
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Refer to note 20 and 23(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies on page 96 to 99 and page 111.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

FRRG A BB FEN 208230 R EICZIE - 111

EMETHE

BRENSR

BMEET R NAEEZ
EH

The Group indirectly holds 17.5% effective
interest in an associate, who is the beneficial
owner of the coal mining rights granted
by the local government of the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC"). The Group
has loans receivable from this associate with
net carrying amount of HK$1,128 million as
at 31 December 2024.

With delayed repayments as a result of the
deteriorating financial performance of the
associate, management considered the
loan receivable was credit impaired and
performed expected credit loss ("ECL")
assessment.

Our audit procedures for the ECL assessment
of loans receivable from an associate
included the following:

. evaluating the appropriateness
of management’s assessment on
whether the loans receivable is
credit-impaired by inspecting the
financial information of the associate
and the overdue information with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

C evaluating the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of
the external valuer engaged by
management;
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KPMG'

Independent Auditor’s Report
15 37 % BAT # 5

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Expected credit loss assessment of loans receivable from an associate

Refer to note 20 and 23(c) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies on page 96 to 99 and page 111.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our

(continued) (#)
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In performing the ECL assessment,
management engaged an external valuer
to assess the loss allowance of the loans
receivable. The loss allowance was based
on the probability-weighted outcome of the
estimated future cash flows under different

scenarios.

We identified the assessment of ECL for the
loans receivable from an associate as a key
audit matter because of its significance to
the Group's financial performance, as well
as the fact that the ECL assessment involves
significant judgements, which are inherently

subjective.

evaluating the reasonableness
of management’s assumptions
adopted in the estimated future
cash flows prepared for different
scenarios, including availability
of other funding to the associate
and the associate’s operating cash
flows which are primarily based on
the expected production volume,
estimated selling price and mining
costs, and the probability weight
of different scenarios by discussing
and challenging management's
assessment on relevant qualitative
factors with reference to our
understanding of the business and
external information available;

performing sensitivity analysis
for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the estimated future cash
flow and considering the possibility
of management bias; and

assessing the reasonableness of
the disclosures in relation to loss
allowances for impairment of loans
receivables in the consolidated
financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Impairment assessment of non-current assets related to a coal processing plant

BT HRREEERIARE
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Refer to note 15(v) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies on page 112.

FRHG A BERFN ISR ET 12BN SHHF -

How the matter was addressed in our BMEE WA EEZ
The Key Audit Matter audit BESHZE E3 |
The Group has a coal processing plant  Our audit procedures for the impairment BEEERUREER 7(?1 B At B2 0 TR
in Jining, Shandong. As at 31 December  assessment of non-current assets related —FERMNIM - K= BEOERDEENRE
2024, the non-current assets related to  to the coal processing plant included the T_WE+ZA=+—- FAHNEZREFAEN
this coal processing plant, which mainly ~ following: B EZERNIKE TRE:
comprises property, plant and equipment BHERHEE (FE0
and right-of-use assets, amounted to assessing the appropriateness of EWE  BERZEN o 2ZRTEFEL
approximately HK$2,017 million in total. management's identification of CGU RERBEE) £itNA MRE - FRhE
and the allocation of assets and 2,017,000,00078 7T, ° BERNRACE
In light of the uncertainties of the liabilities to the CGU with reference KENERMRE
developments arising from the local to the requirements of prevailing ENEHRRERER EXEUNEE
environmental protection policies, accounting standards; BYHIEEYE  BE ERBEENEE
management considered impairment ERAR RMZZT_N#F i
indicators surrounding the non-current evaluating the competence, TZA=+—RERM
assets of the coal processing plant existed capabilities and objectivity of IRMERDEERLE « FHEEEZEM
as at 31 December 2024 and performed an the external valuer engaged by RETR - WETIHE S 8D 1 18 AD &0 B5
impairment assessment accordingly. management; R BT o TN BAR
BEM
° involving our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the o HZMMABEES
appropriateness of the valuation X2EBRTEH
methodology adopted with EHMRELE
reference to the requirements of the AEAEAGE
prevailing accounting standards and AERNBEEME
assessing whether the discount rate W FF i EE R R
applied in the estimated future cash BemEmKA
flow was within the range adopted METRERE
by other companies in the same SN N
industry; FIERAMEER
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to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Impairment assessment of non-current assets related to a coal processing plant

Refer to note 15(v) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies on page 112.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
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In performing the impairment assessment,
the coal processing plant was identified as
a separate cash-generating unit (“CGU").
Management engaged an external valuer
to assess the recoverable amount of this
CGU, using the value in use method based
on the estimated future cash flow, which
required the use of significant judgement
in determining certain key assumptions,
including revenue growth rate, estimated
utilisation rate, gross profit margin and
discount rate. Management then compared
the recoverable amount of this CGU to
its carrying value to determine if any
impairment loss should be recognised.

We identified impairment assessment
of non-current assets related to the coal
processing plant as a key audit matter
because of the significance to the Group’s
financial performance, as well as the fact
that the impairment assessment involves
significant judgments, which could be
subject to management bias in their
selection.

. evaluating the reasonableness of
the revenue growth rate, estimated
utilisation rate and gross profit
margin with reference to our
knowledge of the business and
industry, historical trends and other
external information available;

J comparing the key assumptions used
in the estimated future cash flow
in the previous year with the actual
results for the current year to assess
the reliability of management'’s
forecasting process and whether
there was any indication of
management’s bias;

. performing sensitivity analysis
for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the estimated future cash
flow and considering the possibility
of management bias; and

. assessing the reasonableness
of the disclosures in respect
of management’s impairment
assessment in the consolidated
financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KPMG

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
15 37 #% B AT ¥R 5

(continued) (#)

KPMG'

to the shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Guo Xiaofei.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

21 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEETEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-ZE-_NWE+-_A=+—BILFE

2024 2023
—B-NEF T =%
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FAT
Revenue - 5 17,655,191 18,527,804
Cost of sales fHE KA 8 (15,471,598) (16,556,680)
Gross profit =7 2,183,593 1,971,124
Other income Ha g A 6 44,963 61,640
Other (losses)/gains, net Hib (BE) Wzs B8 7 (14,212) 2,384
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER (93,371) (85,630)
Administrative expenses THAX (554,314) (703,656)
Net impairment losses on financial and PRIREHNEENREEE
contract assets FEE 3.2(b) (210,953) (201,111)
Operating profit il 1,355,706 1,044,751
Net impairment losses on investments WEREE R a R EEE
in associates FER 20 (91,365) (140,650)
Finance income IR LN 9 194,121 214,654
Finance costs W55 A 9 (464,812) (432,757)
Share of profits of investments accounted for 7 {5 A # AR 2
using the equity method % & B3 20 26,002 34,541
Profit before taxation B A5 A1 5 ) 8 1,019,652 720,539
Taxation TIE 12 (318,490) (340,385)
Profit for the year X% F| 701,162 380,154
Other comprehensive income: HEfe2mWas
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss F] & %7 5 %8 2 18 75 #9TH H
Currency translation differences bE o, =58 (535,483) (254,600)
Change in value of debt investments at BRATERAEMEE Y
fair value through other comprehensive ZERIGEBEEE
income 4,873 (18,908)
Item that will not be reclassified to BB P EE B A E H
profit or loss
Change in value of equity investments at  $ZAFEE A B 2 FEUES
fair value through other comprehensive ZRRAGEBEEE
income (10,121) (15,095)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEETEHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—BLFE

(continued) (#)

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
k=2 FE&xT FHT
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREM MU - FRTIE
netoftax (540.731) (288,603)
Total comprehensive income for the year FATEW = LAEE 160,431 91,551
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEMEEF, (E518)
Owners of the Company UNCIEZ RSN 180,771 (232,496)
Non-controlling interests SRR A 520,391 612,650
701,162 380,154
Total comprehensive income for the year FREGEEEmWSEEE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company UNEIEZ 2N (161,034) (393,014)
Non-controlling interests IR 321,465 484,565
160,431 91,551
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) RAER NFEANEEEF,
attributable to owners of the Company for (BB 28’ERN,
the year (EBE) 14
— Basic (HK cents) — BEARCEN) 3.5 (4.5)
— Diluted (HK cents) — H5E Bl 3.5 (4.5)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read Ltz rmEREEBEW M —HEE -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEEBERRE

As at 31 December 2024
RZE-—_MF+=ZA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
+=-BA=+-—-~H +-A=+—8
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Lol TER FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets (RBEE
Investment properties REUERWE 18 128,942 131,602
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREZHE 15 9,607,396 10,126,358
Right-of-use assets TREERE 16 412,511 513,585
Exploration and evaluation assets HMARRTEEE 17 59,645 107,484
Intangible assets BVEE 19 1,017,721 1,018,138
Investments accounted for using the equity FRABREARZEE
method 20 1,496,660 1,633,245
Financial assets at fair value through other BATEFAEMEZEKE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") ZeMEE ([RATFERF
AEM2EYE]) 21 178,182 186,007
Other non-current assets HitIEme & & 23 1,234,929 1,243,673
Deferred tax assets BRERIAE E 29 44,865 45,176
14,180,851 15,005,268
Current assets REEE
Inventories "E 22 293,717 594,831
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other BHEE  EKe  BEHR
receivables H fth & W R IR 23 1,868,086 1,988,960
Current tax recoverable & HA A] U el B IR 5,599 6,106
Time deposits with maturity over three months BB A=A EH
TR 24 1,782,324 1,150,475
Cash and cash equivalents RekBAE&EEEE 24 2,565,505 2,095,411
6,515,231 5,835,783
Total assets HWEE 20,696,082 20,841,051
Liabilities =F
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A 5K 25 1,422,322 1,870,571
Contract liabilities ANaE 26 2,731,354 2,899,198
Short-term borrowings REEE 27 1,079,502 3,664,790
Current tax payable EHEMHIE 191,668 185,911
Lease liabilities HEERE 16 7,484 11,070
5,432,330 8,631,540
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R
As at 31 December 2024
R-ZZE-_WME+-_A=+—H
(continued) (#&)

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-_NF —E-=F
+=—A=+-—-~H +-A=+—8
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 TER FET
Non-current liabilities *nBEE
Senior notes BERE 28 2,879,980 2,999,366
Long-term borrowings RHEE 27 4,582,785 1,047,541
Lease liabilities HEBRE 16 25,548 28,442
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEE 29 390,726 427,319
Assets retirement obligation BERBEAE 30 173,126 144,901
| 8,052,165 4,647,569
Total liabilities we®e 13,484,495 13,279,109
Equity B
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2 Bl & A {5 & &
Share capital [ 31 56,368 56,368
Reserves 1 3,600,814 3,761,848
3,657,182 3,818,216
Non-controlling interests FEPE R M 3,554,405 3,743,726
Total equity ezes® 7 7,7271717,757877 7777777777 7 7,7576717,?4727 i
Total equity and liabilities EZRkBERE 20,696,082 20,841,051

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 75 to 223 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 21 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Xu Tie-liang
Director

Guan Yijun
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E ol E
FAESEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WF+-A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RIERARL
Shares
heldfor  (Note31b)) ~ Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share Share share award Other  fluctuation  compensation Retained controlling Total
capital premium scheme TEServes Teserve Teserve profits Total Interests equity
BRH B
gEid  (hEb)  ERRE RERW
e RhEE  FRRE  EHEE B FeRE 2 g8 HERER  BRgE
HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
T Thn T T T Thn Thn T T Thn
Balance at 1 January 2023 Wo8ZZE-f-ANES 56,368 13,208 (37941 1,272,999 (737,524) N4 3984333 420678 3627868 7850546
Profit for the year EhiEd = = = = = = (232,49) (232,496) 612,650 380,154
Other comprehensive income Ef2 ks - -
Bxchange differences on translating foreign  REE S EEMEL 2
operations ELZE - = = - (126519) = — (126515 (128,085 (254,600)
Changes n value of debt imvestments at~ HATEHAZB2ERE L
fai value through other comprehensive R ERELD
income - - - (18,908) - - - (18,908) - (18,908)
Changes in value of equity investments st~ FATEHAZH2ELEL
fairvalue through other comprehensiee ~~ FAREEEZE
income - - - (15,095) - - - (15,095) - (15,099)
Total comprehensive income I
for the year - - - (34,003) (126,515) - (232,49%) (393,014) 484,565 91,551
Transter of fair value los on equity NHERERRATETA
investments at fair value through other 22 ENEZRARE
comprehensive income to retained profits ~ ATEEEZREEF
upon disposal (net of tax) (MBTE) - - - 7284 = = (1284 = = =
Transterof fir value los on debt RHERERRATHIA
investments at fair value through other 22 ENE BERE
comprehensive income to rofitor s~~~ ATEEEZER
upon disposal (net of tax) (MB#E) - = = 152 = = = 152 = 1527
Deregistration of a subsidary HEf-ERELA - - - - - - - - (1,164) (1,164
Dividend paid to non-controllng interests %R 8 TR ER - - - - - - - — (6809 (376,809)
Changes in the ownership nteress FABsEER HBAT
in subsidiaries that do not resul fEEERED
ina loss of control - - - (12975) - - - (12,975) 9,266 (3,709
At 31 December 2023 W-ZZ=E+ZR=1-AR 56,368 13208 (377947 123483 (864,039) 11.241 3744553 3818216 3743726 7561942
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_WNF+-_A=+—RALEE

(continued) (#&)

Attributable to owners of Company

AAREARL
Shares
held for  (Note31(b) ~ Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share Share share award Other  fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium scheme reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
ARf HEf
£Ritd  (WEnp)  EXED  REEN
Bx  RHEE  FERG  ERER BF  FeER  REEA BE FEREE  REUE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T TR Thn T T TR Thn T T
Balance at 1 January 2024 Wo5-RE-B-ANES 56,368 13,208 (o) 1234832 (864,039) 1241 3744553 3818216 3743726 7561942
Profitfor the year ERmgT - - - - - - M 180,771 520,391 701,162
Other comprehensive income Ep2EkE
Exchange differences on transating REZENEHAEEL
foreign operations EizE - - - - (33655 - — (36557 (19896)  (535483)
Changes in value of debt investments ot~ RAFEFFALH2ELE
fairvaue through other comprehensiie 2 ERREEEZ
income - - - (10,121) - - - (10,121) - (10,121)
Changes in value of equity investments st~ FATEF AEH2ERE
fair value through other comprehensive 2R AREEEED)
income - - - 4873 - - - 4873 - 4813
Total comprehensive income EnENELE
for the year - - - (5.248)  (336,557) - 180,771 (161,034) 311,465 160,431
Transfer of fair value oss on equity NHERBRRATETA
investments at fair value through other A 2EREZRARED
comprehensive income to retained profits  FEFEZRB AR (1
upon disposal (net of tax) #3) - - - (503) - - 503 - - -
Changes in ownership of subsidiaries WEAAEREZD - - - - - - - - 7,98 798
Dividend paid to non-controling nterests TR 8 T3k iEs - - - - - - - — (51808 (518,084)
At 31 December 2024 W-F-RETZA=1-R 56,368 13,208 (377.947) 1,229,081 (1,200,59) 1241 3925827 3657182 3554405 7211587
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in iR & e B Bk E BRBEMT M 5 — OFBOE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n'.ﬁ iﬁﬁl}lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE T NEF+-_A=+—BHILFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF =%
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 F#ExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHHERE
Profit for the year 1A 5 A 701,162 380,154
Adjustments for: AT SEELAE
Taxation I8 12 318,490 340,385
Finance costs MEER 9 464,812 432,757
Finance income A 9 (194,121) (214,654)
Share of profit of investments SMEEAEREARZ
accounted for using the equity &N F
method, net 20 (26,002) (34,541)
Dividend income from equity BATFEFAEMEER
investments at FVOC| Wik 2 AR E 2 iR
BUA 6 (1,802) (2,172)
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEHEN 19 10,279 8,722
Depreciation and depletion of property, M BEMEEITE
plant and equipment NI 15 705,688 690,986
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 16 25,384 24,288
Depreciation of investment properties KREUEMENE 18 4,163 4,002
Net impairment losses on financial and ERERENEENRE
contract assets BB 210,953 201,111
Net impairment losses on investment TE R E R RIERE
in associates E18 R 20 91,365 140,650
Loss on disposals of debt investments HERAFEFAEM
at FVOCl HM S EBHIRE
o):Shis — 1,527
Losses on disposal of an associate B — B = A 3 /Y
18 — 558
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, LEWE  BEMEE
plant and equipment and right-of-use LA K2 (52 A & E Y
assets (B8R)/ W 17,253 (4,469)
Written off of exploration and R K 5T Ak & B 8
evaluation assets 17 10,676 2,935
Provision for assets retirement obligation B E R ARERE 30 3,907 6,003
Financial guarantee income M EREA 6 (205) (7,877)
2,342,002 1,970,365
Changes in working capital: EEEEH
Inventories & 287,394 (17,425)
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other BREE e Bk
receivables H b e W FRIE 29,361 (85,510)
Trade and other payables g5 &Eﬁﬂﬂgﬁ (307,629) 113,167
Contract liabilities AHaE (62,762) (25,598)
Cash generated from operations BEELERE 2,288,366 1,954,999
Taxation paid [RENERE] (312,892) (327,503)
Net cash generated from operating activities #E&EKEL 2R S IFE 1,975,474 1,627,496
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv'.R iﬁﬁl}lbiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z_NFEF+_A=+—RHILFEE

(continued) (#&)

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FHExT FHIT
Cash flows from investing activities KREZBHRENE
Interest received 2 FE 124,329 128,048
Dividend received BAR S 13,054 6,073
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  BERRE
equipment, exploration and evaluation AR R EEEN R
assets and prepaid construction costs TE 3 R A AR (723,372) (906,879)
Purchase of land use rights S P AR (61,622) (24,999)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME  BEREZE
and equipment FriS 8 43,628 15,568
Proceeds from disposal of land use rights & i 0 A REFT 1S RIA 44,723 14,226
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHEMENEE 19 (24,792) (12,744)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAFES AEM
at FVOCI PEHRGZERMEE
P58 — 10,959
Advance to an associate ) — A B D R B AR (93,197) —
Disposal of an associate B — B E AT 20 — 13,764
Investments in associates REE AR ZIRE 20 — (99,000)
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with FHBAAR=EAL LAY
maturity over three months TEHATF R (38 ) m A (692,752) (550,433)
Financial guarantee income received 2 W IS AR U A 6 205 7,877
Site restoration expenditure THRES H (7,792) (6,426)
Net cash used in investing activities HEEEMAE 5 (1,377,588) (1,403,966)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= D <~ —
FRRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WF+-A=1+—HILFE

(continued) (#)

2024 2023
—E-ImF —E-=F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FH&T T T
Cash flows from financing activities BEESIRERE
Interest paid EAHE (454,758) (375,231)
New borrowings raised MEREE 3,903,180 3,865,855
Repayment of senior notes EEELEE 28 (121,902) (668,495)
Repayments of borrowings EBEEE (2,857,137) (3,838,174)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests STARE T IR (518,084) (376,809)
Principal elements of lease payments HENZKEEHD (11,774) (13,744)
Changes in the ownership interests in B /&8 X ] PR R M 2w B B
subsidiaries 7,298 —
Net cash used in financing activities MEESHFTAR S FEE 32 (53,177) (1,406,598)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RekBESEIER
equivalents #hn, Crl ) 58 544,709 (1,183,068)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HBHZE&R
ReEHEER 2,095,411 3,329,715
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREE TR (74,615) (51,236)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+=-A=+—HBz2
HekReEMEEE 24 2,565,505 2,095,411
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in tiatsmAREeE REREABM M T —HEE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is at Suite 2805, 28th Floor, Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaging in investment in energy related business in various regions in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and West Central Alberta,
Canada, including but not limited to 1) piped city gas business, pipeline
design and construction; 2) transportation, distribution and sales of
compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied natural gas (“LNG"); 3)
development, production and sale of oil and gas and other upstream
production and sales of coal-derived clean energy and other related
products; and 4) comprehensive energy and customer value-added
services. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “"Group”.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

2.1

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards
and accounting guideline which are relevant to the Group’s
operations and are mandatory for the financial year beginning
on or after 1 January 2024:

Presentation of financial statements
— Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (2020
amendments”)

Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 amendments”)

Leases — Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

Statement of cash flows

Financial instruments: Disclosures
— Supplier finance arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 7

The amendments to standards and accounting guideline listed
above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

2 mREE ()

2.1

&R R B

SEERMTIEREBONLESR
BER_ZTZ-_NF—A—Hz% 2
1% B9 BF B 2 58 #0177 B0 2E RIS
FAIAREEES

BREMERBIR HBERRNIE—BA

(CHES) ERBARBUIER
B ([ZB-2%

HESD
EEQHENEIS MERRONER—HE
(CHES) LFENERYEE
([Z2=F%7

X))
AU BEE RN HE-£4AENRAE

F163% (BFTA) AR

BRGHRRER RERER

(BFTA)

EEMBREEN SRIA—BE: {E
73 (BATA) HREZH

LR ER I ERAMERT A R &5 18
SIHATEHRBERNSEIAE
M YHABEFIASHE RN
ARPEAEEEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

2.2 New standard and amendments to standards not yet
adopted

The following are new standard and amendments to standards
that have been issued but are not effective for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 and have not been early adopted.

mREE ()

5 SR A 2 377 TR 2 RO 45T 2

AR ER RERMETAE R
HEEANBE T _NFE+ =
A=+—HLEOHRFELERBIL
BmIBRHEMA o

Effective for accounting
year beginning on or after
REUAT B Es B & Rn

MEFFEEEN

Amendments to HKAS 21

ER G ERE215% (BFTAX)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates —
Lack of exchangeability
INEEELHNTE —

Financial instruments, and Financial instruments:

Rz A

1 January 2025

“ET-R¥—A—H
1 January 2026

disclosures — Amendments to the classification
and measurement of financial instruments

EEMBREENESRRBEEHNBREED eWIA RERTA: RE - YHERTARN

—E-RF¥—H—H

E7% (BaIA) HEREHEMEET

Annual improvements to HKFRSs — 1 January 2026
Volume 11

BRI RS ERNFEIE — —ZE-X¥—-A—H
1%

HKFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027

BB BIMEERE 8% B mENENREE —E_+E5—-H—H

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without public accountability: 1 January 2027
disclosures

BERUMBIMEENE 195 FRAHZFEELNMBEBLR - RE —E-t5—-A—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 UKRERERE
3.1 Financial instruments by categories 3.1 REREINEHMIA
Financial Financial
assets at liabilities at
FVOCI amortised cost amortised cost
BRAFERA REBHRA REBHERA
Hir2mkis HBCEREE TEZHBER
Note HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 TET TER TER
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME+=A
=+-H
Financial assets SREE
Debt investments BHEE 21 76,200 — —
Equity investments BRARE 21 101,982 — —
Deposits, trade and other receivables %% + 5 R E hfEU
PR 23 — 2,024,866 —
Time deposits with maturity over three ZIHi BB =18 A &F 4
months, cash at banks BH - ROTAS 24 — 4,347,829 —
178,182 6,372,695 —
Financial liabilities 83X
Trade and other payables ZHREMEMTIR 25 — — 1,304,688
Borrowings &5 27 — — 5,662,287
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 = = 33,032
Senior notes BERE 28 = — 2,879,980
— - 9,879,987
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HIBERERE (&)
3.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 3.1 REREINEMIA ()
Financial Financial
assets at liabilities at
FvoCI amortised cost amortised cost
BATEA RE KA REHMAR
Hi2EKH TEZERMEE TEZMEEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it T THT THT
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=Z5+=H
=+-H
Financial assets SREE
Debt investments BEHRE 21 72,654 — —
Equity investments RAKE 21 113,353 — -
Deposits, trade and other receivables %€ + & 5 R E IR
TR 23 — 1,975,520 —
Time deposits with maturity over three ZIEiB BB =18 A 6T 1
months, cash at banks TR B8 E 24 = 3,245,886 —
186,007 5,221,406 —
Financial liabilities g 3=
Trade and other payables BHREMENFKE 25 = = 1,752,055
Borrowings EE 27 - — 4,712,331
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 = = 39,512
Senior notes BEZRE 28 = = 2,999,366
- — 9,503,264
186,007 5,221,406 9,503,264
3.2 Financial risk factors 32 HHEREEEE
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: SEFEHERZEN ﬁ“ﬂ
market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate LRk (B EEEERR {ﬁ % J—L
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course B R R =R - 5 E % & H
of its business and financial instruments. The management BEBRIEREH®I ,E:F E 2
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate HESREKR  EEEEEREE
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. ZERR  UMRERBFEHHME
B S HE b e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)  Market risk

0]

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to United States dollars (“US$"”), Canadian
dollars (“CAD") and Renminbi (“RMB"). Currency
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. In addition, the conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. This currency
exposure is managed primarily through sourcing
supplies denominated in the same currency.

Management has set up a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against functional currency. It mainly includes
managing the exposures arising from sales and
purchases made by the relevant group companies
in currencies other than their own functional
currencies. The Group also manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of
the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures. The
Group has not used any forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge its exposure.

(continued) (#)

3 FRERERE (&

3.2 BEEBEE (F)

@ mEEE

(0]

B

SEEEBERFAETR
g B X (=
7l ~ mEART (I
Tl RARE (TAR
) RIT)EEME
KRR - E¥RERMH
ARBEERS ~ BR
EERABBERBEINZE
BEREMESL - It
o AR BRI
BAXTBEBETRM
Z SMNEE B R Bl KOE
RATHRR - L EE R
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BEECH AT BE
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B YR ' ¥ a0 N E &l
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HEEEQRAES
ENREBUNIZE
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v'.R

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@

Market risk (Continued)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

Prices for oil and natural gas in Canada are
determined in global markets and generally
denominated in US$. Oil and natural gas prices
obtained by the Group are influenced by both
United States and Canadian demand and the
corresponding North American supply, and recently,
by imports of liquefied natural gas. The exchange
rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an
increase in the value of CAD as compared to US$
will reduce the prices received by the Group for its
petroleum and natural gas sales. At 31 December
2024 and 2023, there were no financial instrument
denominated in US$ in the books of subsidiaries
with functional currency denominated in CAD.

As US$ is pegged with HK$ under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, the Group has minimal
exposure to currency risk arising from US$.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been HK$1,812,000 (2023:
HK$5,775,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB
denominated cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from
debt and equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$178,182,000 (2023:
HK$186,007,000). Most of these investments are
listed either on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong
or other countries.

Equity investments are held as long-term strategic
investments and have been chosen based on their
longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

Debt investments are placed with counterparties
with sound credit quality. The Group closely
monitors the credit quality and financial positions
of counterparties and considers appropriate action
if the market value of those securities decline by a
pre-determinate threshold.

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices for
oil and natural gas in Canada are impacted by the
relationship between CAD and US$ as well as world
economic events that dictate the levels of supply
and demand.

(continued) (#)

3 BRERERE (&)

3.2 BFESmER

BEE (&)

@ mEEE (&)

(ii)

ERERE

KERSEREDYF
Bt AHAME2E K
CEBMBEEMNEH R
B A 3% 178,182,000
BRLT(ZFEZ=F:
186,007,000/ 7T) H &
BERZEDHEER - ZF
BREZBARZHERSE
B HEMBER 2 &

RHMLM -

BARERERRR
B E - HREHIE
RENKELFHE
REXRBEEERRE
HA o

BEBEREFRR
RFZHFH - &E
BUOEEHF T ZE
EERRPBMN AL
RZEEHFMETR
BEERERRREES
7% -

1:1;2
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v'.R

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@

Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets, except for short-term bank deposits, loan to
an associate and loans to third parties, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing assets resulted from changes
in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings
and senior notes. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes
are set out in Notes 27 and 28 respectively.
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26 B I R R MY RE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk as the
interest rate risk exposure is not significant. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group will repay the corresponding borrowings
when it has surplus funds.

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates on floating rate borrowings, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group's post tax profit for the year by approximately
HK$56,623,000 (2023: HK$30,324,000). The above
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
date of the statement of financial position and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until the next
annual statement of financial position date. The
analysis was performed on the same basis for 2023.

(continued) (#)

3 BRERERE (&)

3.2 BFESmER

BEE (&)

@ mEEE (&)

(iii)

MEmEBR (&)

HARFERBYTE
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fa] A1 & 32 Hf o E A
REREE - BB
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SHEEFHAEE -
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=t—8  HEEEE
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EBRTFRBRBEEFB
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Bit 3% 35 = B 5E

(continued) (#)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to contract
assets, deposits, trade and other receivables, debt
investments at FVOCI, time deposits with maturity over
three months, cash at banks and financial guarantee. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
arising from financial guarantee contract issued was
HK$193,171,000. Such financial guarantee contract was
completed in 2024 and there were no financial contract
issued outstanding as at 31 December 2024. Except for
financial guarantee contract issued, carrying amount
of the above assets represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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26 B I R R MY RE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

0]

Credit risk of cash at banks and time deposits
with maturity over three months

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the
Group’s bank deposits are deposited in major
financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong
Kong, which the management believes are of high
credit quality without significant credit risk. There
has been no recent history of default in relation to
these financial institutions. The expected credit loss
is insignificant.

(continued) (#&)

3 FRERERE (&

3.2 BEEBEE (F)

(b) FEREE (&)

(0]
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EEk
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(continued) (#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHERER (&
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 32 HBEREBEE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) FEREE (&)
(i) Credit risk of loans receivable from an associate (i) EW-—EHELATERZ
EERE

The directors of the Company consider the NRAIEEEREER

probability of default upon initial recognition ) 45 FE SR B B A9 & 7]

of asset and whether there has been significant B UEEERR

increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis. To assess EEFEBEEM -

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, RAGEERBRES

the Group compares risk of a default occurring on BMELEM FEHR

the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of MERHEEELE

default as at the date of initial recognition. Especially A4 R B B B R ) BA TR

the following indicators are incorporated: RAEBHAE DR RE
TEHE - FRl#M AT
FIHEIR -

—  Actual or expected significant adverse change — XK MBEE
in business, financial economic conditions that Y= o=l =
are expected to cause a significant change to Hi & KT F &
the associate’s ability to meet its obligations; T8 5T 4% 18 B

REAIBITERD
MEENBEEERKR
g1t

—  Actual or expected significant changes in the — BEARKEE
operating results of the associate; B E RSk TR

BERE

— Significant changes in the expected — BEAREHE
performance and behaviour of the associate, BRTIBBWER
including changes in the payment status of B BEBE
the associate. NSRS 8

B -
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26 B I R R MY RE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk of loans receivable from an associate
(Continued)

The management considers the credit risk on loans
receivable from an associate after considering the
financial conditions of the associate and concluded
that there was significant increase in credit risk, and
the expected credit losses was lifetime expected
credit losses. Management assessed the expected
credit losses by applying discounted cash flow
method and using several significant assumptions,
including the distribution of expected cash flows
of the receivables under different scenarios based
on the associate’s past repayment history, business
model, current situations and forecasts of future
conditions and the related probability weight under
different scenarios.

(continued) (#&)

3 FRERERE (&

3.2 BEEBEE (F)
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HRERERE (&
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.2 EBi¥EREE (&)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk of loans receivable from an associate
(Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the
Group's expected credit losses model for loans
receivable from an associate were as follows:

b) FEmEE (&)

(i) ER-EBEQIRNERZ
FERR (&)

SEER -HBER
AERNEHEES
BEAMKENRR
MEWT

Basis for recognition of loss

Category Group definition of category allowance provision
5l BRNSEESR BRBRBETRNEE
Performing (“Stage 1") Counterparties have a low risk of 12 months expected losses. Where the

default and a strong capacity to
meet contractual cash flows

KAREF ([E—-FER]) REUFEODRRBERARE R
NETERBREREREKR

Underperforming (“Stage 2") Receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk; as
significant increase in credit risk is
presumed if relevant interest and/
or principal repayments are 30 days

past due
KRN E (TBZMER]) 155 Bl K18 12 A0 69 e UL 5RIB 5

BEOREERANE R/ LA
% BIRREE R AEE

Non-performing (“Stage 3") Interest and/or principal repayments
are 90 days past due
KRAR ([B=FR]) BHOREENER HAE

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

3 BIiEE R

(continued) (#)

B (&)

3.2 BEEBEE (F)

(b) FEREE (&)

Credit risk of loans receivable from an associate (i) ER-—BBEATNERZ
(Continued) EERK (F)
On that basis, loans receivable from an associate At R EMR  RZF
were considered to be at stage 3 as at 31 December - l7£| F+_A=+—
2024 (2023: stage 2) and provisions were W — e A
recognised as follows: Gl féf RERBERE
“REBE(ZE-Z=F:
FMEER) - WER
BT
2024 2023
—Z-mF —TE=-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross carrying amount R4 1,453,557 1,286,022
Loss allowance provision BB BT IR (325,893) (125,271)
Net carrying amount AR EE 1,127,664 1,160,751
Credit risk of other receivables (i) HttEWREBEZEER
73
Other receivables were mainly other interest HibEBRFAEER
receivables other than from loans receivable from an & W — A B % NAEE

associate, receivables under finance leases, amounts
due from associates, consideration receivables
and note receivables. The credit quality of other
receivables has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties.

m~ﬂ§ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ
‘EW%M’ﬂﬂ
- R E K E R
/\FMMWﬁE@FWQ
B o Hih KK
FEEREZ2ERS
HBHENXRRR S Y
THBRRZELE
FHEITRE -
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(continued) (#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHERERE (&)
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 32 BIEEKEEZ (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EEmEE (&)
(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (iv) EHEERESEHRR
receivables Bz EERE

For sales and distribution of natural gas and
other related products, the provision of pipeline
construction and connection services, and the sales
of coal derived clean and other related products in
the PRC, the Group generally requests advances
from these customers. For exploitation and
production of crude oil and natural gas in Canada,
receivables from oil and natural gas marketers
are normally collected on the 25th day of the
month following production. In circumstances of
credit sales, to manage the credit risk in respect of
contract assets and trade receivables, the Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with appropriate credit history and the
Group performs credit evaluations of its customers,
and generally does not require collateral from the
customers on the outstanding balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all contract assets
and trade receivables calculated using a provision
matrix.
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(continued) (#&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UIKREER (&
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.2 BEEBEE (F)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EEREE (&)

(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (iv) EHNEERESEWRIK

receivables (Continued) Bz 8RR (&)

Start from 2024, the Group segments its B -WFR - &

trade receivables and contract assets based on KRR EEFERE

geographical regions, due to different loss patterns BEATE £ER

experienced in different regions. The following table B EHE S HE

provides information about the Group's expensive SERFEBEBREHE

to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and E- TREHBAEBSE

contract assets. BEo5RKFERA

MEEEBRMNEER
e REREEBRY

2024 2023
—E-OF —ET-=

The PRC A
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) R4 (F&T) 976,287 918,891
Expected loss rate TEHEEX 2.79% 2.35%
Loss allowance provision (HK$'000) B &R (T#T) 27,279 21,614
Canada mEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRmEAsE (T T) 59,782 76,403
Expected loss rate TEHAE 1B = 0% 0.77%
Loss allowance provision (HK$'000) BB & E=HIR (T8 T) — 590
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(continued) (#)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Credit risk of debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are normally
only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock
exchange, except where entered into for long-term
strategic purposes. Management considers “low
credit risk” for listed bonds to be an investment
grade credit rating with at least one major rating
agency. Other instruments are considered to be
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets are not material
under the 12 months expected credit loss method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised as
at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(vi)

Credit risk of financial guarantee

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided
certain financial guarantee in respect to the bank
borrowings to Shandong Shengli aggregate
maximum of RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$154,000,000). Two subsidiaries of the Group
also provided guarantee for the loan repayment
obligation of an independent third-party amounting
to RMB35,610,000, equivalent to HK$39,171,000,
from whom the Group acquired these two
subsidiaries. These financial guarantee contracts
were completed in 2024 with full repayment of the
bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
HK$nil (2023: HK$1,448,000) of credit losses, which
is measured at lifetime expected credit losses.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk during
the year.
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s Board when the borrowings exceed
certain pre-determined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial position
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the statement of financial
position date) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE (&
3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.2 B%EREE (&)

(c)  Liguidity risk (Continued) (© ImEEZEE (&)

Total Total Less than
carrying contractual 1 year or Between Between Over
Group £8 amount  un-discounted on demand 102 years 210 5 years 5 years
ELESiE 15/

FEEE @it BERZA 1225 2355 SENL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T Tin T TiEn Tin

As at 31 December 2024 R-Z_RF

t-A=t-8

Trade and other payables  BZREAMERFE 14232 142232 142232 - - -
Borrowings AR 5,662,287 6,249,058 1,362,658 743,298 4,143,102 -
Senior notes ErZE 2,879,980 3,074,167 134,970 2,939,197 - -
Lease liabilties fHEBR 33,032 41,984 13,184 5,016 10,268 13,516
9,997,621 10,787,531 2,933,134 3,687,511 4,153,370 13,516

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=f

t=A=1-A

Trade and other payables ~ EZREMERFTE 175205 1,752,055 1,752,055 = = =
Borrowings &7 4712331 5,061,195 3,893,455 349,741 174,146 643,853
Senior notes BrEE 2,999,366 3,351,597 140,970 140970 3,069,657 =
Lease liabilties HEaf 39,512 45,774 11,535 9,805 10,114 14320
9,503,264 10,210,621 5,798,015 500,516 3253917 658,173
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v'.R

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
Note:

(a) The Group complied with senior notes and bank
borrowings covenant as at 31 December 2024 and did not
trigger the callable terms.

(b) As at 31 December 2023, the Group issued certain
corporate guarantees to banks in respect of bank loans
granted to an associate and an independent third party
and the maximum amount the Group could be demanded
under the guarantee in the event of default amounted to
HK$154,000,000 and HK$39,171,000, respectively. As at
31 December 2024, all these financial guarantee contracts
were completed and there were no other financial
guarantee contracts issued outstanding.

Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditure and projected strategic investment opportunities. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase
the Company’s shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHERERE (&
3.3 Capital risk management (Continued) 33 EBXREBRER (&)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of available cash and SERBEEEVBMRAXARR
cash equivalents and current ratio as shown in and derived from AERGzAUARe RS E
the consolidated statement of financial position. The table below EHERRBLEEREZTER - TK
analyses the Group’s capital structure: REBEREE 2D
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—EC-OF —F=-=
t=A t=A
=+—H =+—H~H
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RekBF&EEEE (FETL) 2,565,505 2,095,411
Current ratio (Current assets divided by  REH R CRBEEKR A
current liabilities) mBEE) 1.20 0.68
The Group also monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-asset SENEBREEABLEREER
ratio. The ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total assets. EITEE - ZXDRBEER
Total debt is calculated as total borrowings and senior notes. The NBREEHE - BEERHER
Group's gearing ratio was 41% (2023: 38%) as at 31 December BEMBLAZESGLE - £ER=
2024. T-WFE+-A=t+—HWNEE
BELEEARN% (ZTEZ=F:
38%) ©
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation
i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of the
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
statement of financial position date across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement, with the fair value of each financial
instruments categorised in its entirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

o Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

o Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active market for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
data.

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input
is not based on observable market data.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

S BT IS SRR B
(continued) (#&)
M EREE (&
3.4 AFEMFE (8)

() KR FEIEZEBTA (&)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—EBIX EZER EZBIX B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FET
As at 31 December 2024 i ke
+-B=+—8
Financial assets at FVOCI: BATEFAEME
MUEZEBMEE:
— Listed equity investments — FTRAKRE 101,982 — — 101,982
— Listed debt investments — FTEBEE 75,750 — — 75,750
— Unlisted debt investments — EETMEBRE - 450 — 450
177,732 450 — 178,182
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F
+=-A=+—8
Financial assets at FVOCI: BAFEFAEME
MUEZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — ETRARE 173,013 — — 173,013
— Listed debt investments — ETEREE 12,544 = = 12,544
— Unlisted debt investments — FEMEBERE — 450 = 450
185,557 450 — 186,007

During the year, there were no transfers between
instruments in level 1, level 2 and level 3.

(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value

Except for disclosed elsewhere, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s financial instruments, including non-current
assets carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

REAFEE  FE-—BR %
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgments in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
The assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgments,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom
equal to the estimates.

Estimates and judgments are regularly evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most critical
in understanding the estimates and judgments that are involved in
preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Estimate of impairment of loans receivable from an
associate

The loss allowances for loans receivable from an associate are
based on assumptions about distribution of expected cash
flows of the receivables under different scenarios. The Group
uses judgment in making these assumptions, including the
distribution of expected cash flows of the receivables under
different scenarios based on the associate’s past repayment
history, business model, current situations and forecasts of future
conditions and the related probability weight under different
scenarios.

Favourable changes to some assumptions may decrease the
provision whereas unfavourable changes may increase the
provisions.
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(0

Estimation of impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Property, plant and equipment which includes
oil and gas properties, and other non-financial assets such
as investment in associates are also reviewed for possible
impairments whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Determination as to whether and how much an asset is impaired
involves management estimates and judgments such as future
prices of natural gas and crude oil. However, the impairment
reviews and calculations are based on assumptions that are
consistent with the Group’s business plans. Favourable changes
to some assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the need to
impair any assets in these years, whereas unfavourable changes
may cause the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological prospects
for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and estimated the value
of oil to be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. For drilling costs and
other exploration and evaluation assets, the Group determined
whether the related well costs are expensed if it is determined
that such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgment is required by the Board to
determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the impairment
reviews.

Estimate of petroleum reserve under the segment of
“exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas”

Estimates of petroleum reserves are key elements in the Group's
investment decision-making process. Changes in total proved
plus probable petroleum reserves will affect unit-of-production
depreciation and depletion recorded in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for property, plant and equipment related
to oil and gas production activities. A reduction in proved plus
probable reserves will increase depreciation and depletion
charges. Petroleum reserve estimates are subject to revision,
either upward or downward, based on new information, such
as from development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices, contract
terms or development plans.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's principal activities are the sales and distribution of natural
gas, crude oil and other related products, provision of construction and
connection services of gas pipelines and production and sales at coal
derived clean energy and other related products in the PRC, and the
exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas in Canada.
Revenue for the year comprises the following:

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#)

EXBR o EER

SEIZREHERBERAR - R
HkEMERER  RAPBERHEMR
EEREREBEERGIEEMBERE
BRERREMEBER - UL REM
ERFARREERBERAR - FR
EBEEBREATRE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Sales and distribution of natural gas and other  $5%& R#&@iX KRR KL
related products H A0 = o 14,021,865 14,096,140
Gas pipeline connection and construction PR E B R SR
services income WA 532,338 1,145,077
Exploitation and production of crude oil and PP K A B JROB R R AR
natural gas 462,240 501,798
Production and sales of coal-derived clean HERBEREZRERK
energy and other related products H b 588 E 2,638,748 2,784,789
17,655,191 18,527,804

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive Directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses more specifically on
sales of natural gas, gas pipeline construction and connection;
production and sales of coal derived clean energy and other related
products and exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas.

The Group has presented the following four reportable segments for
the year ended 31 December 2024:

— sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products

— gas pipeline connection and construction
—  exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

—  production and sales of coal-derived clean energy and other
related products

SERBEEHANTEZTERHERD
Ao e R I FF(E 2 A BRI 75 B B g Bl B AR
EOMEBEIIMER  LEZAE
REERAR - MREBRERER -
EERHERESTRERMEMBBE
mARFRREERBRRAR

 E T _NFEF+A=+—HBLHF
C EEE2YATHREHRE D H

i B

— HERBEXXARLEMBBE

(u]s)
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— FARREERABERAR

— HERHEREBTREERK
18 B8 2 an
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v'.R

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segments based on profit before taxation without allocation of other
(losses)/gains, net, finance income, finance costs, share of profits of
investments accounted for using the equity method, net, (reversal of)
impairment on property, plant and equipment, written off of
exploration and evaluation assets, net impairment losses on financial
and contract assets, net impairment losses on investments in associates
and other unallocated corporate expenses, which is consistent with
these in the consolidated financial statements. Meanwhile, the Group
does not allocate assets and liabilities to its segments and report the
sales from external customers by geographical market, as the executive
directors do not use this information to allocate resources to or
evaluate the performance of operating segment. Therefore, the Group
does not report a measure of segment assets and liabilities for each
reportable segment and a measure of sales by geographical market.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided to
the executive Directors for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 is set out below.
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 EXRBERDIER (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024: HE_T_NF+_A=1+—HILEFE :
Sales and Production and
distribution of Exploitation and sales of coal-
natural gas and Gas pipeline production of derived clean
other related construction and crude oil and energy and other
products connection natural gas related products Group
LERHE
HER RRR RERFR
BERARR HEEE LERAR ERRER
ERRER BERER A& RBER £@
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR ThR TER TER TER
Segment revenue and results ABELBREA
Seqment revenue PHEER

Recognised at  point in time RE-EREED 14,021,865 - 462,240 2,638,748 17,122,853

Recognised over time R-BERRED - 532,338 - — 532,338
Sales to external customers MPEFHER 14,021,865 532,338 462,240 2,638,748 17,655,191
Segment results PHEE 152213 179,160 150,536 110,457 1,962,276
Finance income (Note ) BB (Brito) 194,121
Other losses, net (Note 7) -0 =R AR (14212)
Finance costs (Note 9) BEER (W) (464,812)
Net impairment losses on financial and £ BRANEENH(E

contract assets (Note 3.2(b)) BEFE(HF3.20) (210,953)
Nt impairment losses on investments in -~ & &R E & A AT E

associates (Note 20) BEFE(ME0) (91,365)
Written off of exploration and R REEERE (HE17)

evaluation assets (Note 17) (10,676)
Share of profits of investments accounted /& £ & AAR 2

for using the equity method RERH (M0)

(Note 20) 26,002
Unallocated corporate expenses AARLER (370,729)
Profit before taxation BRAER 1,019,652
Taxation (Note 12) RA(ME12) (318,490)
Profit for the year FRER 701,162
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

DEER (&

BE_Z-_=-Ft+-A=1tT—HLFE:

Sales and Production and
distribution of Exploitation and sales of coal-
natural gas and Gas pipeline production of derived clean
other related construction and crude oil and energy and other
products connection natural gas related products Group
EERBE
HER RER REREZ
BEXARR fagE EERMBR R R
HthREER BERER RS FBER £E
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
Tk TERL TER Tin Tin
Segment revenue and results PRELEREE
Seqment revenue AHERE

Recognised at a point in time RE-RE%ED 14,096,140 - 501,798 2,784,789 17,382,727

Recognised over time R-BRENER - 1,145,077 - - 1,145,077
Sales to external customers NBEPHER 14,096,140 1,145,077 501,798 2,784,789 18,527,804
Segment results PHEE 1,169,160 432,504 175,552 (148,376) 1,628,840
Finance income (Note 9) SRMA (H9) 214,654
Other gains, net (Note 7) Ehs - FEMRY) 2,384
Finance costs (Note 9) BBER (M) (432,757)
Net impairment losses on financial and B RAHEENHE

contract assets (Note 3.2(b)) BB (H3.20) (201,111)
Net impairment losses on investment i~ AR~ B E R EREE

an associate (Note 20) BiR%E (H20) (140,650)
Written off of exploration and BRRFEEERS (W7)

evaluation assets (Note 17) (2,935)
Share of profits of investments accounted 4 (i BB EAER 2

for using the equity method, net RERF - F (HH0)

(Note 20) 34,541
Unallocated corporate expenses AARLERT (382,427)
Profit before taxation BREER 720,539
Tavation (Note 12) B (BriE12) (340,385)
Profit for the year s 380,154
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(Continued)
BHE-_Z_NFER-_ZE=-_=F+=A

=+ HLEFE £SBREBHNBEF
REBEZEXHEPERBBEI0% °

No external customers of the Group contributed over 10% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HE-_T-_NFRER-_ZT-_=Z=F+=A
=t+—HLtFE - SEHEKHWEMSS
DLZBEZOWEHIMAT -

Analysis of the Group's assets by geographical market for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below:

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
Additions to Additions to
non-current non-current
Total assets assets Total assets assets
= NE
BEE FREBEE BEE FRBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TExT FHT THT
Hong Kong £ 315,672 1,268 478,372 3,304
Mainland China B A i 16,180,045 587,098 15,891,153 895,582
Canada mex 2,480,658 255,620 2,607,098 222,910
Total Fh 18,976,375 843,986 18,976,623 1,121,796
Unallocated AOE
Investments accounted for using the FREEEARZEE
equity method (Note 20) (KF&E20) 1,496,660 1,633,245
Deferred tax assets (Note 29) BREFIEEE (729) 44,865 45,176
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income (Note 21)  Yez5 v & B & & (MfsE21) 178,182 186,007
Total assets BEE 20,696,082 20,841,051
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HfblA
2024 2023
—E-E —ETE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Government subsidies (Note (i) T 48 Bl (B 3G7)) 31,845 40,116
Dividend income from equity investments at EAFEFAEMEZEKEZ
FVOCI (Note 21) AR E 2 IREWA
(Mf5E21) 1,802 2,172
Financial guarantee income (Note 34) B E R (K 5E34) 205 7,877
Others Hh 11,111 11,475
44,963 61,640
Notes: B EE -
(i) Subsidies from the government are recognised in accordance with (i) BT 7 BE R R BT E (O F P8k 2 @ 5 I
accounting policy set out in Note (t). RER o

Government subsidies relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that

they are intended to compensate.

Government subsidies relating to property, plant and equipment are
included in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are
credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected

lives of the related assets.

7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

B o

2 YA A B O KOS B S BORE - X
A B2 EL R 5E 18 Y B 7R B 8 P 7R B
MAREETER °

HEYE - BB MR A R BT R
SINERBDEBIERBRTERFHE -
YREREANBBEEEBFTFRFTA

7 H(EE) W o B

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Losses on disposals of debt investments at fair ~ HERAFEFF A LM
value through other comprehensive income THKZZEBREN
18 — (1,527)
Losses on disposal of an associate HE—HBENRNER — (558)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and H &% - BE R REA L
equipment and right-of-use assets EREEER (BB W (17,253) 4,469
Others Hh 3,041 —
(14,212) 2,384
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8 BR¥ADR A
Profit before taxation has been arrived after charging/(crediting) the BRI ER B MR (GTA) AT &IE
following items: BES
2024 2023
—E-NF ZTZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER F&T
Employee benefit expenses (Note 10) BEERMFA X (KIE10) 534,445 533,778
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAEBIHNTFERAN 14,614,790 14,305,302
Auditor’s remuneration % B R0 BN &
— Audit services — BERS 4,588 4,500
— Tax services — R RS 203 —
Depreciation and depletion of property, plant M- BELREETER
and equipment (Note 15) B (FEE15) 705,688 690,986
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) FREEENE (WiE16) 25,384 24,288
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) E|IEEEH (E19) 10,279 8,722
Short term lease expenses (Note 16) MHERER S (ME16) 2,960 4,704
Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, plant and &% - BE M & A &
equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 7) T AR BB (Uas)
(M 5%7) 17,253 (4,469)
Net impairment losses on financial and TRMEREHNEEREBEER
contract assets (Note 3.2(b)) 58 (B 5E3.2(b)) 210,953 201,111
Net impairment losses on investments in REE AR 2R ERE
associates (Note 20) B 8% 58 (M4 5E20) 91,365 140,650
Net exchange (gains)/losses FE 3 (W2k) /B8R4 (2,696) 9,983
Written off of exploration and evaluation assets )& & aF 4 & & b 8 (M £17)
(Note 17) 10,676 2,935
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

9 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

9 HMBRAKREH

2024 2023
—E-_NF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interests income on: FEWA -
Bank deposits RITHFER 89,143 105,735
Debt investments at FVOCI BEAFEFAEMEE
Wz EBRE 33,764 25,491
Loans to an associate (Note 34(b)) ERXT—BEELE QA
(P 5E34(b)) 69,791 81,496
Loans to third parties ERTFE=H 1,423 1,932
194,121 214,654
Interests expenses on: MEER:
Bank borrowings RITER (291,048) (262,092)
Other borrowings HER (18,183) (14,333)
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEaE(H16) (1,591) (2,301)
Senior notes BAERE (149,486) (151,916)
Accretion of assets retirement obligation A EWEEAERM
(Note 30) (Ffz¥30) (4,721) (4,698)
Less: Amounts capitalised (Note 15(iii)) B B AL & 58 (BT EE15(ii)) 217 2,583
(464,812) (432,757)
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

10 BERAMX - BREESH

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS &

2024 2023
1 23 —T=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHEIT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e IERES 463,577 470,896
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRENAE — R EHKEE 70,868 62,882
534,445 533,778

(a) Five highest paid individuals () EHEEmeFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in SEFAREEaME A TS

the Group for the year include 2 (2023: 2) directors whose
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 11.
The emoluments paid or payable to the remaining 3 (2023: 3)
individuals during the year are as follows:

e

2R (2 -=F :2%) 8% -
HEHME B ESHAKFEN2INDHT -
FRNENHENTFTESKRIR (ZF
Z=F 3%) AT W TA

2024 2023
—E-ME 2 =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RAREYA S 12,870 12,764
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RORAE T FT 8 # 3 — —
12,870 12,764
FHRREBERAQ T
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(continued) (#&)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 10 EERAFRX » BIFEE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) & (&)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (a) HhBERSHFMAL (7)
The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the BUTHeHE 2 EEAZKAT :

following band was as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 TE
4,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 L2
5,000,0007% 7T 2 2
No emoluments were paid or payable to the above highest BE_T_MFRZ-IZT==F
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as +ZA=+—HBLEFE  SEYX
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 December EINKENERNME T L&
2024 and 2023. SEMzAL  ERBERSZM

BEESEREEHBIME -
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(continued) (#&)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 10 EERAFHX  BREESM
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) & (&)
(b) Senior management’s emoluments (b) SHREEEKE LN
Details of remuneration paid to members of non-director senior BATHcHEENENFEES
management fell within the following bands: REBEKEME S

Number of employees

EBEAH
2024 2023
—E_E ==
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 078 7C 21,000,000 7T 10 8
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ T E
2,000,000/ 7T 4 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 TE
3,000,000/ 7T 1 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 TE
4,000,000/ 7T 4 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 T2
5,000,0007% 7T 2 2
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11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES)

(@) Directors’ emoluments
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s services as
a director or services in connection with the management of the

affairs, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings:

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

1M EFMamkiER (BEEQARMGK
5l (56622%) 26383f% + A F]
(BEZEENRER) B (F
622 GE) REB LEHRAIR
ERHE)

(a) EZME
ENEHEARKEMBARES
AREHEEEEBERORE 2
ATzHEKEBBKMEMT :

HEzE_ZT-_NFEF+=-A=+—8H

IEFE -
Employer's
Salaries, contribution to
allowances and a retirement
Fees benefits in kind Share awards benefit scheme Total
§é 2K EIHBHER
He L e ] big L[S @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx T T T AR
Executive directors: 17ES:
Xu Tie-iang FRR (FREH)

(Chief Executive Officer) 120 23979 - 18 2,117
Gao Falian e 120 1,005 - - 1125
Guan Yijun B8z 120 6,500 - 18 6,638
XuRan A 15 961 - 18 1,094
Independent non-executive  BUFHTEE:

directors:

Liu Zhihong WFL (H=F==

(appointed on 15 June 2023) 7 A+ A BEEHE) 120 - - - 120
Wang Guang-tian IER 120 - - - 120
Yang Jie A 120 - - - 120
Total Eh 835 32,445 - 54 33,334
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Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

e HRRMEE

(continued) (#&)

1M EFNERkER (BBARMR
5 (56622F) 263831k * A
(REBEEEANRER) AH (8
622 GE) RE B LELMHKRAR
EWHE) (&)

(a) ESME (&)

HE_ZT-_=Zf+_-_A=+—8H

IEFE -
Employer's
Salaries, contribution to
allowances and a retirement
Fees benefits in kind Share awards benefit scheme Total
e RMR EXHRAET
Be Enila R &8 TR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n Tk Tk Tin Tin
Executive directors: HiEs:
Xu Tie-liang THER
(Chief Executive Officer) (7Tl4%) 120 22,602 = 18 22,740
Gao Falian BEE 120 1,073 - = 1,193
Guan Yijun HHZE 120 6,500 - 18 6,638
Xu Ran e 118 997 - 18 1,133
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES:
directors:
Liu Zhihong Ha (H-F-=F
(appointed on 15 June 2023) A A+EHEZLE) 65 = = = 65
Wang Wenhua IXE(R-F-ZF
(resigned on 15 June 2023) A ATEAEE) 55 = = = 55
Wang Guang-tian TER 120 - - - 120
Yang lie B 120 - - - 120
Total @it 838 31172 - 54 32,064

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an accepting office as director or as a

compensation for loss of office as director.

BEAREFRELAMNE - &
B EAEAARESEIAME
FREXEFTHRUZ BB AT
EEMCMHE -
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(continued) (#&)

11 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b)

(@]

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors
for making available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2023: Nil).
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(e)

()
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EEVENREABEEARAKE
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HEWERAKEN (ZF ==
;) o

EEBBEAN

FR - YEBABFFHEMKL
EanmE (—F_=F: &) -

RENEERBEAE=DAHRE

VTERENRESIEALAESIR
89 BR %5 ) H AR E AR
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12 TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax for
the year (2023: Nil).

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance note, subsidiaries in
Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at
25% (2023: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled to tax concessions
and tax relief whereby the profits of those subsidiaries are taxed at a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%).

Canada income tax has been provided for at the rate of 23% on the
estimated assessable profits for the year (2023: 23%), which
represented the tax rate in Alberta, Canada and the Canada’s federal
tax rate of 8% (2023: 8%) and 15% (2023: 15%) respectively.

Taxation on other overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the applicable rates of
taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

12

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#)

BiIE

A 0 5% A AN 4R X 3 4 R BAE ) 7 A8
BEMNGHRZERBEN  BALER
BRNEGHRIFREER (T _=F:
®) o

BEBBRECEMSRE - KO R
ERMAMA c RPBE R E QR
25% (ZZT - ZF : 25%) 2 B R H 4N
PRMCEMER - ETHEAREZSA
BHEEEREL B ZEWEBARQ
AZBmMABEMEBREEI15% (ZF
T=F 1 15%) AT o

FRAME KRB TIIE23% (G 5T ERE
HEMEIR (T =4 :23%) - BN
ERMBABEHERNE X BH X
DR E8% (ZE =% :8%) R15%
(ZE-=%F :15%) -

H Al i SNt A 18 T LA 5 B 48 & P 7E )
FEEBERABRTHRERFAMGTERY
mAMETERIE -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT T T

Current tax (=i h ] 301,622 352,332
Deferred tax (Note 29) EER A (B 5E29) 16,868 (11,947)
Taxation G| 318,490 340,385
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(continued) (#)

12 TAXATION (Continued)

13

12

There is no tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax

BE ()

BE_Z_WNF+-_A=+—HILF

B YEFBEMEZEKZAKID
ZRBEE (T _=F : §&) -

SEBRHAGEN 2 HARERERSHE
MM MEFOREELZEREEE

rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows: £ N
2024 2023
—ENF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Profit before taxation B F A A 1,019,652 720,539
Tax calculated at the applicable rates in the tax ¥ ABRBEF Uk A 5 2 A
jurisdictions concerned METEHRIE 318,829 244,703
Tax effect of associates and joint venture's EERBERARAREGE AT
result reported %Z*ZWEE/ 2 (12,090) (12,483)
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation BARBTIMANTR G2 (6,219) (23,440)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for b n A= N I s - )
tax purpose BT E 103,207 98,822
Tax effect of tax concessions PR BT IS E (79,430) (48,316)
Unrecognised tax losses RERBIEEE 8,173 83,868
Withholding tax on dividend income f& B ATE T 1,305 10,152
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BAEFERETS(BE) 3,674 (2,765)
Others H Aty (18,959) (10,156)
Taxation 7] 318,490 340,385
DIVIDEND 13 BRE

The Board has decided not to propose final dividend for the year ended

31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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14 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share was based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$180,771,000 (2023:
loss of HK$232,496,000) divided by the weighted average of ordinary
shares of 5,199,374,613 shares (2023: 5,199,374,613 shares) in issue

14

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#)

SRERN, (FE)
PN

FRERNZFETIZA B #A ARG
#1180,771,0008 T (ZE =% : B 1E
232,496,000/8 ) Fr W F N E 1T E R
B% 2 hn #E F 15 £05,199,374,613/% (= T

0

SlLrirg) 10 e, = =% :5199,374,613/8) 5t ¥
Weighted average number of ordinary shares: BT S -
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —EZ=F
Issued ordinary shares at 31 December R+ZA=+—HAMBE T
T 5,636,803,834 5,636,803,834
Effect of treasury shares held for share option iSRS #E N 2E @)=t 2145 A
and award schemes B a2 8 (437,429,221) (437,429,221)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at A+ - A=+— B8 LB
31 December DNHE T 15 21 5,199,374,613 5,199,374,613

Diluted

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which is share
options granted and not exercised. The diluted earnings/(losses) per
share is equal to the basic earnings/(losses) per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: same) because the exercise price of
the share options granted and not exercised was higher than the
average share price of the Company.

e

FREBERN (BB DERRKFAA
Bz EBR (e ®REEKRTT
BzBEBEE) CBBRZBRAT @ fELR
FEBITEINEBR ZINETFIHE -
FREBRN (BR) ER8=2_-%
“HET A=t -BLEFENERE
rBEHN/ (BB (ZE_=F:R) -
REAREREEBRITEBERENITEE
BRARNFGRE -
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 9% - BERKRE
0i and gas Construction
Plant and properties in progress
Buildings machinery (Note (i) Pipelines Others (Note i) Total
BREE fRIE ,
e R (FiH)) B i (W) a3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Fin Tin TiEn Tin Tin
Balance at 1January 203 W=3==§-F-BHEH
Cost s 1,215,520 2,865,253 4,730,650 4,887,674 457,025 1,598,949 15,755,071
Accumulated depreciation,  Zit T BERAE
depletion and impairment (354,952) (778,096) (2,393,672) (1,723,157) (274,749) — (5,524,626)
Net book value REFE 860,568 2,081,157 2,336,978 3,164,517 182,276 1,598,949 10,230,445

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ=8==5+f

ST-ALEE

At 1 January 2023 R-E-ZF-f-A 860,568 2,087,157 2,336,978 3,164,517 182,276 1,598,949 10,230,445
Currency realignment KEar (17,760) (60,465) 53,407 (71,983) (4528) (30,69%) (132,02)
Additions RE 10,346 16,355 216,767 1,630 45,225 576,266 866,589
Transfers L2 139,045 972,011 - 429,841 38,181 (1,579,078) -
Transfer from exploration and~ #VRRET A E R (3H17)

evaluation assets (Note 17) - - 411 - - - 4m
Transfer to investment properties ERZHEHENE (129,341) - = = = = (129,341)
Disposalsiwritten-off HE /Wi (5,535) (15,190) - - (2,369) = (23,004)
Depreciation and depletion for /37 % 187 (H3k8)

the year (Note 8) (42,915) (223,845) (177,733) (21,254) (25,239) - (690,986)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+Zf=1-H 814,408 2,776,023 2434191 3,302,751 233,546 565,439 10,126,358

Asat31December203  H-R-=%+-A=1-H

Cost ik 1,234,400 3,686,317 4,004,814 5,213,968 449219 565,439 15,214,157
Acumulated depreciation,  E3tHTE  BERAE

depletion and impairment (419,992) (910,294) (1,630,623) (1,911.217) (215,673) - (5,087,799)
Net book value BEFE 814,408 2,776,023 2434191 3,302,751 233,546 565,439 10,126,358
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - BMENRE (&
(Continued)
Oil and gas Construction in
Plant and properties progress
Buildings machinery (Note (iv)) Pipelines Others (Note (ii)) Total
HREE IR
53 HERRE (A&(iv) g i (H&E(ii) Eh
HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TEn THR THn THRL TER TR THR
At 1 January 2024 RZE-mE-F-A 814,408 2,716,023 2,434,191 3,302,751 233,506 565,439 10,126,358
Currency realignment gHRE (22,194) (98,558) (208,048) (123,930) (7313) (18,132) (478,175)
Additions RE 20875 64,003 253,202 4 28,058 395,831 761,973
Transfers g% 71,006 199,922 - 179,156 8,058 (464,142) -
Transfer to investment properties EEZREHEHE (2,349) - - - - - (2349)
Transfer from exploration and ~ EIFRGFHEEER
evaluation assets (Note 17) ~~ (KF&E17) - - 32,607 - - - 32,607
Disposalsiwritten-off e/ (67,989) (54,325) - (1) (4,983) - (127,330)
Depreciation and depletion for /37 & [ 87 (H:k8)
the year (Note 8) (56,824) (214,701) (170,128) (230,445) (33,590) - (705,688)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+ZB=1-A 762,933 2,672,364 2,341,824 3,127,463 223,816 478,996 9,607,396

As at 31 December 2024 RZEZBETZA=1-H

Cost i 1,203,862 3,696,462 3,998,496 5,194,990 451,501 478,99 15,024,307
Accumulated depreciation,  EiHTE  BERHE

depletion and impairment (440,929) (1,024,098) (1,656,672) (2,067,527) (227,685) - (5,416,911)
Net Book Value BERE 762,933 2,672,364 2,341,824 3,127,463 223,816 478,99 9,607,396
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nv'.R

(continued)

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(%)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes:

U]

Revaluation, depreciation method and useful lives

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings, plant and
machinery, oil and gas properties, pipelines and construction in progress.
Accounting policies for oil and gas properties are set out in Note 15(v).
All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the profit or loss during the year in which
they are incurred. Except for oil and gas properties and construction in
progress, depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

12.5 to 40 years or remaining lease period of
the land where applicable

3 to 20 years

20 years

3 to 20 years

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Pipelines
Others

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each date of the statement of financial position. An
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within “other (losses)/gains,
net” in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents, buildings under development
for future owner-occupied purpose and pipelines under construction,
which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Costs comprise direct and indirect incremental costs
of acquisition or construction. Completed items are transferred from
construction in progress to proper categories of property, plant and
equipment when they are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of
infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the drilling of
commercially proven development wells, is capitalised within construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment. When development
is completed on a specific field, it is transferred to oil and gas properties
under property, plant and equipment. No depreciation and depletion is
charged during the development phase.

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation assets
and development expenditures associated with the production of proved
reserves.

Oil and gas properties are depreciated and depleted using the unit-of-
production method. Unit-of-production rates are based on total proved
plus probable reserves, which are oil, gas and other mineral reserves
estimated to be recovered using current operating methods and taking
into account estimated future development costs necessary to bring those
reserves into production. Future development costs are estimated taking
into account the level of development required to produce the reserve.

Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to
HK$217,000 (2023: HK$2,583,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs
were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general borrowings
of 5.6% (2023: 5.8%).

B

(ii)

(iii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nv'ﬁ

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties is determined at the
value-in-use using a discounted cash flow method and is assessed at the
cash generating units (“CGUs") level within the segment of “exploitation
and production of crude oil and natural gas”.

The Group regularly assesses market commodity prices, costs to carry out
planned drilling programs, drilling results, and reservoir performance to
determine if there are any indicators of impairment of the Group’s assets.

At 31 December 2024, estimates of future commodity prices were
marginally lower than 2023. This decrease was offset by growth in
the reserves and it was determined that there were no indicators of
impairment or impairment recovery during the year. Forward benchmark
prices for crude oil and natural gas liquids at 31 December 2024 were
consistent with prices at 31 December 2023, while natural gas prices
were lower due to current weakness in natural gas commodity markets.
The Group's reserves increased from 2023 to 2024 as total reserve
additions from the drilling program and swap transactions in 2024 were
greater than production. Capital expenditures to carry out the drilling
program in 2024 were moderately higher than forecast in 2023 due to
inflation experienced in 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

The Group has a coal processing plant located in Jining, Shandong. As
at 31 December 2024, non current assets attributable to this processing
plant amounted to approximately RMB1,902,792,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,016,959,000), which included property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of approximately RMB1,847,914,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,958,788,000). In light of the uncertainties of the developments
arising from the local environmental protection policies, management
considered impairment indicators surrounding the coal processing
plant existed as at 31 December 2024 and performed an impairment
assessment accordingly. The coal processing plant is considered to be a
single CGU for impairment assessment purposes.

The recoverable amount of the above CGU of HK$2,201,620,000 is
determined using the value in use method based on the estimated future
cash flows. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are
those regarding the discount rates, revenue growth rates, utilisation rate
and gross profit margin. Management estimates a pre-tax discount rate
of 13.82% that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to this CGU. Average revenue growth rate
of 1.1% for the next five years are based on forecasted commodity price
and estimated volume under the current ceiling on utilisation rate set
by the local government authorities. Average gross profit margin during
the next 5 years is estimated to be 14.64%. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using growth rates of 2.02% per annum,
which is based on industry growth forecasts. The Board considered
no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2024. Increase in
discount rate by 72 basis points, drop in revenue growth rate by 0.55%,
or decrease in gross profit margin by 0.55% would result an impairment
loss to be recognised as at 31 December 2024.

B

(v)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

16 LEASES 16 HE

(i)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of () RESUBERRIERBERZESE
financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the HREMBRARBERATHEBEE
following amounts relating to leases: B FIA
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-OEF —T=-=
+=-—A=+-—8 +=-—A=+—8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Land use rights 5 F A 378,173 472,710
Office and other properties MREREAM Y 34,338 40,875
412,511 513,585
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current e 7,484 11,070
Non-current JE B 25,548 28,442
33,032 39,512
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2024 financial RZZE-_MBBREE - FRHE
year were HK$45,244,000 (2023: HK$23,298,000). & E RN AA45,244,0008 T (= F

— =4 : 23,298,000/ T)

HK$86,324,000 of land use rights were transferred to properties, HEz_T-_mWE+=-A=+—H
plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2024 IFF E  86,324,0005 JT Y £ i
(2023: 7,460,000 to investment properties). CTAEERZYE  KERKE

(ZZ = =4 : 7,460,000/ T 12 #
ZREUREME) -
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16 LEASES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#)

16 HE (&)

(i)

31 December

RESZRER 2T

HeErHmBaRBRIATEEE
BB FOR

31 December

2024 2023
—E-QmEF ZTZ=F
+=ZA=+-—H +=ZA=+—H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E F#ExT FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FHAEEEINEER
assets
Land use rights 4t B A 11,373 11,412
Office and other properties MAEREMYE 14,011 12,876
8 25,384 24,288
Interest expense MEEA
(included in finance cost) GtAMBER) 9 1,591 2,301
Expenses relating to short term leases EHEHIHAEAM@NER 8 2,960 4,704

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$18,145,000 (2023:
HK$18,448,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted
for

The Group obtains right to control the use of office and other
properties for a period of time through lease arrangements.
Lease arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain wide range of different terms and conditions including
lease payments and lease terms ranging from 1 to 15 years
(2023: 1 to 15 years).

The Group also obtained the land use rights through lease
contracts with local governments in the PRC with 50 years term.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged in
“Administrative expenses”.

(iii)
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

16 LEASES (Continued)

(iv) As at 31 December 2024, land-use rights of Nil (2023:
HK$225,644,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
bank borrowings.

17 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

16 HE (#&)

(iv) RZZZEF+-A=+—H " = (=
T — =4 : 225,644,000/ 7T) B+
Hh 5 D E IR IE AEBIRITRERD
@ o

17 MEKRFHEE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
+=—HA=+—8H +=—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Cost B AR

At 1 January R—H—H 107,484 107,069
Currency realignment AR (6,839) 2,378
Additions =Y 2,283 5,744
Written off (Note 8) e (f5Es) (10,676) (2,935)

Transfer to oil and gas properties under EREYE - BE R
property, plant and equipment (Note 15) BHTNRREE (H&E15) (32,607) (4,772)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8H 59,645 107,484

Exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s costs of
acquiring licenses and interests in undeveloped lands in West Central
Alberta, Canada, which are pending the determination of proven
or probable oil and gas reserves. The costs are accumulated in cost
centres by well, field, or exploration area pending determination of
technical feasibility and commercial viability.

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resource is considered to be determined when proven reserves are
determined to exist. A review of each exploration license or field is
carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proven reserves
have been discovered. Accounting policies for exploration and
evaluation assets are set out in Note 17(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes:

(U]

Accounting policies of exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are accounted
for using the successful efforts method of accounting. Costs are
accumulated on a field-by-field basis. Geological, geophysical costs and
pre-licence costs are expensed as incurred. Costs directly associated with
an exploration well, and exploration and property leasehold acquisition
costs, are capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets until the
determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined that commercial
discovery has not been achieved, these costs are charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation assets
are tested for impairment and transferred to construction in progress
under property, plant and equipment. No depreciation and depletion is
charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when
reclassified to construction in progress, or whenever facts and
circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’ carrying
amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the exploration and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of
disposal and their value in use.
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

18 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18 REMEHE
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost BN

At 1 January n—H—H 131,602 —
Currency realignment BT (846) (1,196)

Transfer from property, plant and equipment HmE - WEREZEAR
and right-of-use assets FREEEEDL 2,349 136,800
Depreciation e (4,163) (4,002)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H” 128,942 131,602

Depreciation charges of investment properties of HK$4,163,000 (2023:
HK$4,002,000) has been charged in “Cost of sales”.

Notes:

(i) Measuring investment properties at cost
Investment properties, principally office buildings, are held for long term
rental yields and are not occupied by the group. They carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation.

(i) Presenting cash flows
The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or constructing investment

property as investing and rental inflows as operating cash flows.

(i)  As at 31 December 2024, investment properties approximately
HK$124,908,000 (2023: HK$124,388,000) were pledged as collateral for
the Group's bank borrowing.
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BEEE
Other
Goodwill intangible
(Note (ii)) assets Total
B (i) HEFEE Foe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 1 January 2023 R-B-=f-A—H
Cost X AR 954,706 113,899 1,068,605
Accumulated amortisation RET — (26,145) (26,145)
Net book value BREFE 954,706 87,754 1,042,460
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=fF
+-A=+—-BLEE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=%F—H—H 954,706 87,754 1,042,460
Currency realignment B (8,983) (1,804) (10,787)
Additions NE — 12,744 12,744
Disposal & — (17,557) (17,557)
Amortisation for the year (Note 8) FriH (fi3Es) — (8,722) (8,722)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+-A=+—H 945,723 72,415 1,018,138
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
Cost %N 945,723 106,474 1,052,197
Accumulated amortisation Rt — (34,059) (34,059)
Net book value REFE 945,723 72,415 1,018,138
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-_&E
+=-A=+—-HLEFE
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_mWE—-F—H 945,723 72,415 1,018,138
Currency realignment SR (12,059) (2,703) (14.762)
Additions NE 2,897 21,895 24,792
Disposal & — (168) (168)
Amortisation for the year (Note 8) FREH (M) — (10,279) (10,279)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_WFE+=A=+—H 936,561 81,160 1,017,721
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_MFE+=-HA=+—H
Cost [N 936,561 123,987 1,060,548
Accumulated amortisation 2t — (42,827) (42,827)
Net book value REFE 936,561 81,160 1,017,721
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

19

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Note:

@i

Accounting policies of intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of businesses represents the excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash generating units (“CGUs"),
or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise mainly exclusive rights, club membership
and computer operating system.

Exclusive rights are shown at historical cost. Exclusive rights have definite
useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of exclusive rights over their estimated useful lives ranging from 30
to 48 years for natural gas supply services.

Investment in club membership is shown at historical cost. Investment
in club membership has indefinite useful life and is tested annually for
impairment and carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses
and is not amortised.

Computer operating system is shown at historical cost. Computer
operating system has definite useful lives and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of computer operating system over its
estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGUs identified for sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related products business, which
is also an operating segment, representing the lowest level within
the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is determined from the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The
key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and
direct costs during the year. Management estimates a discount rate of
11.08% (2023: 15.60%) using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to this
group of CGUs. The growth rate of 2.02% (2023: 2.2%) for the next five
years are based on industry growth forecasts.

The value-in-use calculations is derived from cash flow projections based
on the most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved by
management. Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been extrapolated
using growth rates of 2.02% (2023: 2.2%) per annum, which is based
on industry growth forecasts. As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs was approximately HK$15.7 billion
(2023: HK$11.4 billion), which was significantly higher than the carrying
amount. The Board considered no impairment loss is necessary and
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions adopted in the cash
flow projections would not cause the carrying amount of the CGUs to
exceed its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#&)
20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 EFRAEZEARZKRE

EQUITY METHOD

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial REEVBRAXRBRZSENOT ¢
position are as follows:

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=fF
+=—A=+-—8 +=-—A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
Associates iR /N| 1,496,660 1,633,245
Joint venture AEE — —
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8 1,496,660 1,633,245
The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are as RiGFEHERRERZSBNOT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—E-ImF —T=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Associates iR /N| 26,002 42,645
Joint venture EEE — (8,104)
For the year ended 31 December BHET-_A=+—HILFE 26,002 34,541
Interests in associates REZE QA TER
2024 2023
—E-ME —TZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Share of net assets: EEEEFS
At 1 January ®—A—H 1,633,245 1,690,305
Currency realignment BEAE (58,168) (39,183)
Addition (Note (b)) ANE (FrEEb) — 99,000
Disposal (Note (f) & (FEE) — (14,581)
Dividend iz & (13,054) (4,291)
Impairment (Note (a) and (c)) )J'JZTE(MT (@) R (0) (91,365) (140,650)
Share of profits of associates, net DB E N R SRR 26,002 42,645
At 31 December R+=-—B=+—H 1,496,660 1,633,245
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Nature of investments in associates, which are unlisted limited liability

companies, as at 31 December 2024:

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

20 ERAEREARZRE (F)

REE AR R

& ()

T-WE+-_HA=+—H ¥
Bl (BRIFLEMERRA) KE 2

IEND 3958
>>\|

\
/

31 December
2023
Percentage of

31 December
2024
Percentage of

Country of interest held interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal activities indirectly indirectly
“E-mE Z2Z=F
+=A=+-H +tZRA=+—H
BEBERE RAEEA#ED
£ TmEX RIZBEXR TEER Btk BAt
FEETARRERERAR RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49% 49%
("BEER")
EEPHERERERAR AR #20,000,0000 FHE AAREE 49% 49%
(MZ®aR])
Sino Director Limited (Note (a)) US$10,000 BVI Investment holding 25% 25%
Sino Director Limited (Fff &£ (a)) 10,000% 1T ERARAREE RAZK 25% 25%
LEHEERARER A A (Note () RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas — =
IHERRARARRR (HE) AR 180,000,000t HE AAREE - —
HREKAABERMR RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49% 49%
EBAR("BKER")
ﬁ?%ﬁﬁ(ﬁﬂﬁiﬁi)ﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ@? AR #80,000,00000 HE AAREE 49% 49%
EXKBER]
MR R AR AR (HMFE")  RMB30,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49% 49%
BN R AR A (LE%JHEP/EJ) AR #30,000,000 FE AAREE 49% 49%
S8R a’é‘ﬁ [CEN RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49% 49%
("HELAZ"
SBEUPHERERAERRAF AR #80,000,00000 R E AAREE 49% 49%
(IB&ILRAE])
=P aE R EF ikl o7 /J? RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49% 49%
BRAA(ZMkEER"
EFWﬁEﬁEFMﬂ%% ﬁﬁlﬁ/&ﬁ] AR #20,000,00000 FHE AAREE 49% 49%
(T=FeaelR])
BEEXARFEE (Note (b)) RMB200,000,000 PRC Construction 10% 10%
and operation of
underground natural
gas storage facilities and
trading of natural gas
EERARGEE (WD) AR #200,000,00077 & WTRARRETRERE 10% 10%
#EERARRER
Shandong Shengli Co., Ltd. RMB880,100,000 PRC Investment holding 22.16% 22.16%
(“Shandong Shengli”) (Note (c))
ISR B R AR 10 B R A A AR #880,100,000t F & REER 22.16% 22.16%
(TEE R ) (MaE()
ﬂaé,ﬁ%%u BRAARAERRDA RMB50,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 10% 10%
("BAE iﬁﬂ (Note (d))
ﬁamhﬂl %%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ AR 50,000,000, HE AAREE 10% 10%
(TaaBFEM]) (MEd)
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group invested in 25% equity
interests in Sino Director Limited as an associate. The subsidiary of Sino
Director Limited is the beneficial owner of coal mining rights granted by
the local government authority of the PRC. Sino Director Limited and its
subsidiary are collectively regarded as the “Sino Director Group”.

A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of Sino
Director Limited as the Sino Director Group has incurred loss for the year.
According to the result of the business valuation, full impairment has
been recognised with respect to the Group's investment to Sino Director
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 14 September 2023, the Group further injected RMB90,000,000
(equivalent to HK$99,000,000) into £ & X %A & % #F . The equity interest
of the Group remains at 10% upon the injection and the Group has
appointed a director in the board of 2 B X %A & f## . Consequently, the
Group has significant influence over & F X %A R fi# i whereby & B X
S R {5 18 became an associate of the Group and a transfer to investments
accounted for using the equity method was made from financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income at its fair value.

In November 2021, the Group has completed an acquisition of 22.16%
equity interests in Shandong Shengli from various independent
third parties at aggregate cash consideration of approximately
RMB975,631,000 (approximately HK$1,170,757,000) Shandong Shengli,
is listed on the main board of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code
407). On 31 December 2024, the quoted market price of Shandong
Shengli was RMB3.42 (2023: RMB3.62) per share and the fair value
of the investment in Shandong Shengli was RMB666,992,000 (2023:
RMB705,929,000). It is principally engaged in the business promotion
and application of clean energy natural gas. As a consequent of the
acquisition, the Group gained significant influence over this investment
and the investment was classified as an associate of the Group.

A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of
Shandong Shengli, as its fair value fell below the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2024. The recoverable amount of Shandong Shengli
of HK$1,095,085,000 (2023: 1,509,913,000) is determined using the
value in use method based on the estimated future cash flows. The
key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding
the discount rates and revenue growth rates. Management estimates
a pre-tax discount rate of 11.33% (2023: 15.04%) that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to Shandong Shengli. An average revenue growth rate of 6.2% (2023:
7.4%) for the next five years is used. Cash flows beyond 5-year period
have been extrapolated using growth rates of 2.02% (2023: 2.2%) per
annum, which is based on industry growth forecasts. According to the
valuation result, an impairment loss of HK$53,348,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$nil). Increase in
discount rate by 100 basis points and drop in revenue growth rate by
1% would result in additional impairment loss of HK$103,484,000
(2023: HK$nil) and HK$47,551,000 (2023: HK$nil) to be recognised,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nv'ﬁ

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

In July 2022, the Group entered into an agreement with certain
independent third parties in relation to the establishment and
management of & & M ZE . & & HZ M is principally engaged in the
trading of natural gas in the PRC. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement,
the initial total capital contribution is RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$58,500,000), out of which RMB5,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$5,850,000) was contributed by the Group and
accounted for 10% of equity interests in & & & Z= A . Considered the
fact that the Group has the ability to appoint one director to the Board
of directors of #2 & B Z= A1, the Group considered to have significant
influence over this investment and the investment was classified as an
associate of the Group.

Apart from Shandong Shengli, which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, all the associates are unlisted limited liability companies.

In August 2023, the Group disposed of /T & L & KA @ AR A 7 at
the consideration of RMB12,400,000, equivalent to HK$13,764,000 and
recognised the disposal gains included in “other (losses)/gains, net” of
HK$558,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

() = B X % & f# i and Shandong Shengli are considered
individually material to the Group. The aggregated financial
performance for associates which accounted for using the equity

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

20 EREREARZRE (BF)

REERREE (F)

() EBEXARGEERBINKRM D5
BERHEBAEEEARE - &
Rt E AREE QR EZM

method was as follows: BEEWT -
ERRARRE Shandong Shengli
BRR 5

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EoME Z5I-F “EoME it 2
t2B=t-B | t-A=t-8 | f2A=f-B| t-Azt-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TAL TEn TAL
Current assets HAEE 561,769 633,676 2,245,135 2,055,287
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,426,602 3,475,989 4,800,734 5,596,402
Current liabilities e ke (251,351) (1,047,061) (2,952,876) (3,309,446)
Non-current liabilities FRBER (2,524,242 (864,833) (587,604) (764,066)
Non-controlling interests SERES — — (369,871) (405,833)
Net assets BEFE 2,212,178 2,197,111 3,135,518 3,172,344
Group's share of net assets EENMEETE 221,278 219,777 694,831 702,991
Goodwill HE — — 453,602 466,807
Less: Impairment W RE - - (53,348) =
Carrying amount FEE 221,278 219,777 1,095,085 1,169,798
Revenue EXE 248,605 - 4,606,146 5,191,658
Profits/(loss) for the year ERNEFH/ (BB 96,564 (1,98) 127,793 237,138
Other comprehensive income Lk Yle (82,577) (34,051) (194,663) (140,231)
Total comprehensive income 2ENREE 13,987 (35,349) (66,870) 96,907
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 EAETZEARZRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Interests in associates (Continued) REENTER (&)
(i) In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the (i) BREMFENEERRERIN
Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial SETEEE TMEREE K&
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. AEIRRER - EEEE R AKA

BEIEAR o

2024 2023
—EC-@OF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually 1IE|J3F§7< A=W/NC o]
immaterial associates EEEEEAR 180,297 243,670
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: £ EK P EA T :
Losses for the year FAEE (11,973) (18,340)
Other comprehensive income Hith 2w S (6,773) (19,296)
Total comprehensive income THWEARE (18,746) (37,636)
Save as disclosed above, there are no other material B EXFTEEEN  wEEAKE
commitments or contingent liabilities relating to the Group'’s REEE QRSB B2 T HA
interests in associates. BERAERIABE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20

EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture

Nature of investment in a joint venture, which is an unlisted limited

liability company, as at 31 December 2024:

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)
FRAEREARZKRE ()

EEEETEZ

R-Z-_ME+-_A=+—H " H3¥F
FHAEREERAEECENRENE :

Percentage of

Registered Country of interest held
Name capital establishment Principal Activities indirectly
BEEEER
=% HEMER MY 2B xR FTEHEK Bak
IWFEB E R E R MmBLBER AR RMB PRC Trading of coalbed methane 35%
LWAREREERBRERAT ARK [ HRERESR 35%

The joint venture is currently considered not material to the Group and

is accounted for using the equity method:

ZEELERMERAEEEMS LR
BEX - AtEREREAR:

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Carrying amount of the joint venture aEPEERRER — =
The Group's share of: SEmHE

Profit/(loss) for the year FRHF(EE) — (8,104)

Other comprehensive income H h 2 [ W s = (151)

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit 2M (F518) mFe%E — (8,255)

On the 31 December 2024, the cumulatively unrecognized share of
losses of joint venture is HK$12,364,000 (2023: HK$7,203,000).

There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to

the Group's interest in the joint venture.

R-ZZTE-_mME+_—_A=+—08 3t
RIERDHA & DX EIE A12,364,000
W (ZE =4 : 7,203,000 7T) °

BEREERGZCENERAMNE
REFEHHARAEE °
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise:

o Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments
and the Group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

o Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely
principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s
business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets.

(ii)  Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments:

BAVEFSAEMEERZE 2
TRMEE

() RBRAVEFAHMEZHKGZZ SR
BEZDHE

BRAFEFAHEMCEZEARE S
MEERRE

e UWHRRKEEENRAES -
REBERY)FHERETH
R A E R AR A
BROBAER - ZFERBFH
REBKRE  BEERRK
DRERMEBAKL -

s ANBREREBABEA/IMNA
ERFEMEBES - BE
BEBEANHEFTAKIRE
WEERERLESREE
MATAER -

(i) RAFEFAHMEEKEGEZRA
RE

BRAFEFAEMEE RS ZK
TREBBATRE :

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
t=A=t-B +t-A=+-~
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Equity securities: fRAE 5 :
— listed in Hong Kong —EBEAL™ 37,518 48,466
— listed outside Hong Kong — EBEABAINET 64,464 64,887
101,982 113,353

On disposal of these equity securities, any related balance within
other reserves is reclassified to retained earnings.
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21

22

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(iii)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments in listed and unlisted

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

21 BAVEFAHMERREZ

TRMEE (&)

(i) RAFEFAEMEZEKGZEZER

RE

BAFEFAEMCEZAKRE 2E
BREBHEIATRETRAR LD

bonds: BEHEZEE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
+T=ZA=+—H +=ZA=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Debt securities: BEHES

— listed in Hong Kong — EBEA LM 21,148 18,072
— listed outside Hong Kong — EBEABAINET 54,602 54,132
— unlisted — REmm 450 450
76,200 72,654

On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance
within the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

RHEREEBRER  BRAYT
Bt AEMEZEREFERNZE
MEHEGEHREFDBERS -

INVENTORIES 22 FE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—Z-mF —TEZ=F
+=A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Raw materials R4 89,166 165,820
Work-in-progress M 130,449 253,426
Finished goods and natural gas 2K i RRAR 74,102 175,585
293,717 594,831
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

23 AHNEE BT > EFRH

OTHER RECEIVABLES fth FE U 7R 18
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—EF —E-=4F
+t=A=+-8 +=—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables (Notes (a) and (b)) B 5 W RIA
(P 5% (a) K2 (b)) 698,767 656,996
Less: Loss allowance B BIERE (23,056) (17,981)
Trade receivables, net B S REWGRIAFEE 675,711 639,015
Contract assets (Notes (a) and (d)) A EE (M 5E@) &(d)) 337,302 338,298
Less: Loss allowance B EIERE (4,223) (4,223)
Contract assets, net BHEEFE 333,079 334,075
Loans receivable from an associate (Note (c)) A EAR/NEIN=
(FF7E(0) 1,453,557 1,286,022
Less: Loss allowance B BIERE (325,893) (125,271)
1,127,664 1,160,751
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND 23 BHEE - & F BERHE
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) fFEUR R IE (48

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

—ENE —E-=4F

+t=A=+-8 +t=ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F&T FET

Amounts due from associates JE Wt & R R IR — 4,918

Receivables under finance leases BEHEIE T EWKIA 95,159 109,256

Other interest receivables H b W FI B 3,570 4,143

Note receivables W EE 31,095 95,196

Other tax receivables H b 7] U [ £ 1H 63,219 61,237

Other receivables H b fE U SRR 160,278 32,385

Less: Loss allowance o EEERE (68.611) (70,144)

Deposits and other receivables, net B REMEWRRIEFE 284,710 236,991

Prepaid construction costs TE TR A AN 81,503 56,683

Prepayment for acquisition of land use rights Ui B + b 5P A RE TR A SRR 56,585 33,357

Prepaid natural gas costs AT RARB A 440,165 621,834

Prepaid material and equipment costs TR R B B AN 60,056 71,881

Other prepayments H b T8 5RIR 43,542 78,046

681,851 861,801

Less: Non-current portion W IERENER D (1,234,929) (1,243,673)

Current portion mENE o 1,868,086 1,988,960

PRMREEERAT 04EFE 155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FZE ISR R MG

(continued)

(%)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a

Accounting policies of trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally
due for settlement within 30 days and therefore all classified as current.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional, unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The group holds
the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables and contract assets. Information about the
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets, and the Group's
exposure to credit risk and risk management can be found in Note 3.2(b)

(iv).

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 60 to 90
days to its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding
trade receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior
management of the Group.

The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables based on invoice date is as
follows:

A\ Y
= T}

(a)

\’J:’SF
1t FE U =X

W

BE -
8 (%)

BEZKE

B REMERFAZEFTRE

B RERBLR E%%%ﬂ%&q:a
EHERIRERBEWES 2K
ZEHIE - RN30E A 'Jﬁﬂ%%i ' I
EBLIBARY - BHEKFIRD
FREGHRESEER  EEEE
SEABERDE - RATVEETHE
R RERFEIREREANENZ
Hﬁzﬁxééﬁfﬁ%/ﬁi B RBEERE
B A SRR IR SR AR 8 EUWURAR -

SERABREYEREERFORH
LR % ERBEERR - AMEE
SERWHFERAGHEEERZHES
BEREE  FHESZEARBENEH
EENREEN  UREEHERENE

EEMERERES - F2HME
3.2(b)(iv) °

SERTHEZREFPZTFHEESEN
T60E90R 2 [ @ B THETEE#FEE K
FEECESENRFE SERRE
BETHEHNOHEREZEL -

BEXZAHHE S E WK
BRESTAT :

HBEZ

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

—EME B4

+=A=+—H +=A=+—8

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Up to 3 months =EAMNUA 309,474 373,604
3 to 6 months =R@A=ENEA 73,726 55,774
Over 6 months NMEAE 315,567 227,618
Total 45T 698,767 656,996
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23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@

(d)

Loans receivable from an associate

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's loans receivable from Sino
Director Group comprised principal of approximately HK$1,084,837,000
(2023: HK$1,077,803,000) and accrued interest of approximately
HK$368,720,000 (2023: HK$208,219,000).

ECL of the loans receivable from Sino Director Group is detailed in Note
3.2(b)(ii).

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for gas pipeline construction and connection services completed but
not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

BHEE % - EERHE
@JELI& XIE (&)

B L

(@)

(d)

(%)

JE U — Pl Bk & X R B R

R—ZT-_mE+-_A=+—08 &
[ FE Y Sino Director £ B 7 & % 8 1
N 4 #91,084,837,00008 T (= & = =
£ :1,077,803,000/% jt) K& f&E &t A &
#7368,720,000/ T (= T = = F :

208,219,000/ 7T) ©

& U Sino Director £ Bl E X FEHE &
JE5 18 5 15 # R P RE3.2(b)(i) °

BHEETRAGERNBRSAHC
TRRREBRERERRBERRA
ARENUFEER - ANEERZ
BAMKSERTRERERKFOR -
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v'.R

B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

24

TIME DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH

24 EHEFER

THEBREAEE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—EDNEF =%
+=H=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT

Time deposits with maturity over three months HEAA=EANLE
EHEFER 1,782,324 1,150,475

Cash and cash equivalents RekHEEEER

— Cash at banks and on hand — RITBEELFERE 2,565,505 2,095,411

The interest rates for short-term bank deposits ranged from 2% to
3.6% (2023: 3.0% to 3.6%) per annum. The deposits have an original
maturity of ranging from 1 to 5 years (2023: 1 to 5 years). The Group is
able to and intends to redeem the deposits from the bank on demand
for business operation in one year.

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are amounts of
approximately HK$4,165,320,000 or RMB3,929,547,000 (2023:
HK$3,008,250,000 or RMB2,734,773,000) denominated in RMB which
are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of these
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC Government.
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T -ZF 30%E36%) c FAH
REHBRBIZESFE (ZE =% : 1E5
F) c EEEHL RN —FREE KK
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BITER - BRITEBRKRSBETHR
PEAMIRITHAAREFENESEY
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 BEZRHMENKIE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-mF ZT=F
+=ZBA=+-—H +=-A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Trade payables (Note (b)) E 5 P 3RIE (M sE(b)) 330,350 750,385
Construction cost payables JE A 3R SR B AN 612,134 684,451
Interest payable FE T B — 521
Salaries payables ENEHe 51,039 60,605
Other tax payables H b B TEIR 66,595 57,911
Note payables AN — 55,000
Other payables and accruals E fih e RIB R EEH B A 362,204 230,724
Amount due to associates (Note (a)) JE 1~ B & 2 B FROE (BfsE(a)) — 30,974
1,422,322 1,870,571
(@)  Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and (@ ERNBEARREAEERME - ¢
repayable on demand. BRARERER -
(b)  The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as by BEXZEHHNESHENRIEZ
follows: BRER DT ¢
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—Z-mF =
+=A=+—8H +=-A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Up to 3 months =EANR 197,927 677,495
3 to 6 months =EAENEA 85,464 36,012
Over 6 months ~MER A £ 46,959 36,878
Total #Er 330,350 750,385
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26 EXNEE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-E —E=-=
t=ZA=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Receipt in advance for sales of natural gas and SHE KRR & H A AR
other related products EmZBWGRIE 2,226,756 2,297,435
Receipt in advance for construction and connection ~ MREEEEREREERE 2
services of gas pipelines B IR 362,724 392,116
Receipt in advance for sales of coal derived clean and $EXREFZREMBEERZ
other related products T8 W sk E 141,874 209,647
2,731,354 2,899,198
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26 SNEE (&

(a)  The contract liabilities primarily relate to the payments received (a) AHBEFZHHERBXERARK
in advance for sales and distribution of natural gas and other Hit i ERUREMARNTERZ
related products and construction and connection services of gas MREERE R ERRE 2 EWTaK
pipelines not yet delivered to customers. FIBEH -

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) HEXNEEEHENCHEARE
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRITRAFEERLEESNE
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. BEEHENEBERAKzSRE -

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHIT

Revenue recognised that was included E£¥t AGKNEBEHY
in the contract liability balance at the BE®RR U A
beginning of the year

Sales and distribution of natural gas and  $4& R #ix KAR &

other related products H A i8R E S 2,139,224 2,129,903
Gas pipeline construction and connection  #A R & & 12 & N 12 B IR

services 77,156 170,699
Production and sales of coal derived clean 4E MIHERKETZERR

energy and other related products H b A8 = 12,598 120,738
There is no revenue recognised during the current year related to AEEHBEEBTFEDEEN
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year. BHBEEABNHE AN -
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

BHNEE (&)

() Unsatisfied contracts with customers () REEREFFEYN
The Group has applied the practical expedient of HKFRS 15 to SEEEEEERNREERE
its fixed-price construction and connection contracts, as well HEHAURHEERBERARK
as sales and distribution of natural gas and other products HMWEREGENEREEM KBRS
contracts, such that the information about revenue that the ZREISRE 2 ERAIITER 2
Group will be entitled to when it satisfied the remaining e 5 & B 1E B 17 7% & IR T8 HA A
performance obligations under those contracts that had an RE—FHEEMNEHNET ZH
original expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed. BENEESHRELBEEAB LS
ZER o
27 BORROWINGS 27 f&X
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—EC-E —E-=F
+=A=+—~H +=—A=+—~H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Bank borrowings, secured RITHER - HEM 274,222 2,825,470
Bank borrowings, unsecured RITHER - MIER 4,752,065 1,446,861
Other borrowings, unsecured HER - JmER 636,000 440,000
5,662,287 4,712,331
Less: amounts due within one year classified B DERREEE
under current liabilities R—FERNE 82 5KIEB (1,079,502) (3,664,790)
Non-current portion FEMEE S 4,582,785 1,047,541
Note: T -

(i) As at 31 December 2024, certain investment properties (Note 18), land-
use rights (recognised in right-of-use assets) (Note 16) and investment in
an associate (Note 20) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank
borrowing of HK$214,120,000 (2023: HK$541,750,000).
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued)

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

27 18K (4&

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies and carried at the following interest rates:

ERNEmMENTIEEE - XL
TR &5 B

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=%F
+=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET
RMB AR 3,068,733 2,255,218
CAD i 168,710 134,643
usD E 2,424,844 2,322,470
5,662,287 4,712,331
At fixed rates RE R 1,521,942 1,695,569
At floating rates QRN 4,140,345 3,016,762
5,662,287 4,712,331

Weighted average effective interest rates MmEEERFE(SF) :

(per annum):
— Bank borrowings — RITER 5.3% 5.7%
— Other borrowings — HMER 2.8% 3.0%
28 SENIOR NOTES 28 BERE

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
+=-—B=+—H +=-—A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
US$ denominated senior notes AETFENELRE 2,879,980 2,999,366
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

28 SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 23 June 2021, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$3,100,000,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes C"), which bear interest at 4.7%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$398,782,000 (equivalent to HK$3,090,561,000).
The Senior Note C will mature on 30 June 2026 and are listed on the

Singapore Stock Exchange.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the senior notes amounted
to approximately HK$2,771,579,000 (2023: HK$2,626,372,000). The
effective interest is 4.85% (2023: 4.85%). The fair value of the senior
notes traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the date of the statement of financial position. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The senior notes are

within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EILEFFEH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences BIEFTS IR TR T 8 EEERMBARR
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or substantively *AHEREMIEE LEBHATERR
enacted by the statement of financial position date. TREZE2HAE o
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a EEEEUATEMNIEEHATEEE
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current HEMANKEERE  MEZEMEN
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same W R F— B AR - Bl A] AR G P
fiscal authority. SEHREEHAEERH -
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
+=A=t+—8 +—A=+—H”
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Deferred tax assets RIETIAE E (44,865) (45,176)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEAE 390,726 427,319
345,861 382,143
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 RIEFRISH (&)
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the FEMBRARERZELERE (B
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during E) S BENERIS RFEREBHINT ¢

the year are as follows:

Accelerated
tax
depreciation Asset
and retirement
depletion obligation Tax losses Others Total
NERENE
RkB#  EEREAE RERE A a3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiEn T ThL T
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZF==F-F-ANEH 377412 (32,601) (65,679) 110,805 389,997
Charged{credited) to profit or loss (Note 12) BEHENR/ (GIA) (H12) 19,453 (1,340) (7,644) (22,416) (11,947)
Currency translation difference ERER 8,761 (757) (1.218) (2,693) 4,093
Balance at 31 December 2023 AZRIZETZAST-RANER 405,686 (34,698) (74,541) 85,696 382,143
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZZ-RE-A-BMkH 405,686 (34,698) (74,541) 85,696 382,143
Charged{credited) to profit or loss (Note 12) BREAR/ GEA) (Hi2) 2,754 (1,142) 1927 (671) 16,868
Currency translation difference ERER (34,884) 3,245 10,644 (32,155) (53,150)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RIZ-RETZA=T-HMES 393,556 (38,595) (61,970) 52,870 345,861

166 CHINAOIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 EELEFREH (&)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards BIEFSMEENHBO MBI RER
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through ARRKERMBAINER B LR - A
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group BMEEEEEMER - R _MF
had unrecognised deferred tax assets for its tax losses of approximately +TZA=+—8 - EBZABEREL
HK$51,890,000 (2023: HK$49,767,000) to carry forward against I8 & E 2 T I8 #5185 951,890,000 7T
future taxable income. All the tax losses will be expired within the next (ZZ == : 49,767,000/ L) ° FT B
5 years. BB EEBRARRSFARHE -
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(continued) (#)

30 ASSETS RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 30 BEEHEAIE
The movements in assets retirement obligation are as below: BEREBEAEZZHUT
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAxT

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 150,854 141,737
Currency realignment B (14,574) 3,293
Accretion (Note 9) o (B EE9) 4,721 4,698
Site restoration expenditure T8 (7.792) (6,426)
Change in estimates and discount rate et RITER R g 38,526 1,549
Provision for the year FRNEE 3,907 6,003
At 31 December W+=-A=+—H 175,642 150,854
Less: Current portion (Note 25) B B EB S (M EE25) (2,516) (5,953)
Non-current portion EMRE S 173,126 144,901
Note: B EE -
In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in Canada, the Group is BEMEXE@ERNRER  SEASMERM
obliged to accrue the cost for land reclamation and site closures for the Group's EERABRRAREE (BREABAFEER
ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well sites and gathering RFE) M THBABRREMSHIARAE - &
systems. The provision for assets retirement obligation has been determined by BEERBEAENBECHESURSERE
the directors based on their best estimates in accordance with the relevant rules M RERBREEERUNRERESE -

and regulations.

168 CHINAOIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES, SHARE OPTION
AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

(a)

(b)

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

31 A - BRERRG
) B

Share capital (@) MBA&
Number
of shares Amount
REE k|
‘000 HK$'000
T FExT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each Fh%0.018 T2 E Bk
Authorised shares ETE D
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-ZZE=Z=%—fF—8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —E-_=%+-A=+—8"
—E-mE—A—H -
—E-WE+=-A=+—H 125,000,000 1,250,000
Issued and fully paid BEITREE
At 31 December 2023, RZEZ=%+=ZA=+—H"
1 January 2024 —EoNFE-HA-HK
and 31 December 2024 —E-_NF+_-_A=+—H 5,636,804 56,368
Reserves (b) 1B

Other reserves mainly comprise contribution surplus amounting
to HK$1,397,701,000 (2023: same) and revaluation reserves
amounting to HK$179,138,000 (deficit) (2023: HK$173,387,000
(deficit)).

()

(i)

Contribution surplus

Contribution surplus represents excess of the net assets
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s
reorganisation in 1993 over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange thereof. Under
the Companies Act of Bermuda 1981 (as amended), the
contribution surplus is distributable to the shareholders
in certain circumstances which the Company is able to
satisfy.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net
changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI
and is recognised and measured in accordance with the
accounting policy in Note 39(g).

EMWRFHEEITEB/BEHARK
1,397,701,0007% 7T (ZF = = 4 :
R & E & #179,138,000
B (B M (Z T = = F:
173,387,000 7T (E4H) ) o

) BAEE

BABRBRESER - A=
FREAMEBHBARZ
EEFEBLARRKEM
BITRHZEEZERE o R
B—hAN\—FBRERFE
(BFTAR) - BARBESRT
BRTAIHD IR TR - I

BAAREFALEER -
() EEEE

EffEHEERERAFENA
Htt2HMREZEREELZ
RFERFEEHFR - LR
PRI FE39(0) 2 B AT LR T A
ERNETE o
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 BRA - BRERKRMDEES
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued) £l (&)
()  Share option scheme () BRRESTE
The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a RAIRBERER =T ——F+—
resolution passed by the shareholders on 23 November 2011 AZT+T=FRBHNRBREMN
(“the Original Share Option Scheme”), which was valid and —IEERER S ([RERER
effective for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption and 2) - ZEtElaHEMB HREE
expired on 23 November 2021. As at 31 December 2024, there TERNEBERRER TR ZZF
were 85,020,000 (2023: same) outstanding options granted but Z—F+—A=+=BE®M - R
yet to be exercised. These options are valid for ten years from —E_MmMFE+-_A=+—RH " &
the date of grant on 22 January 2016 and will expire on 22 85,020,000 (Z E - =% : [A)
January 2026. EREENRITEDERE -
ZEBEREB -_Z—-XF— A
T+t HAREBHEFTER
EX UHERNR_FT=-~F—A
—+tZHEm °
() The number and weighted average exercise prices of the ()  BREMEARINEFETE
share options are as follows: Bur -
2024 2023
—E-ME “E-=F

Exercise Number Exercise Number

price of option price of option

T8 BREZE IfEfE BREHE

HKS$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000

B Tt BT T’

Outstanding at 1 Januaryand R—A—HA Rk
31 December —“A=+—-H
AT 0.46 85,020 0.46 85,020
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

31 RAS -~ BBIRERR A REE
gl (&)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

()  Share option scheme (Continued) () HBRESTE (&)
(i) The following table discloses details of the Company’s (i) TEXREEER-FT-F
share options held by employees as at 31 December 2024: +ZA=1—HET R AR
ZEIE
Exercise Outstanding at
price per 31 December
Date of grant share Exercise period 2024
R-Z-F
+=A=+-—H
RHBAH BRITEE TED i R AT
HK$
BT
Employees 22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2018 to 21 January 2026 16,560
=1 —E-RF 046 —E-—NF—A-_+_-HZE 16,560
—A=-+—H —ERFE—HAZ+—H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2019 to 21 January 2026 30,000
—E—RF 046 —E-NF—-—A-+=H=ZE 30,000
—A=+=8 —E_RF-AZt+—H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2020 to 21 January 2026 40,000
—E-RF 046 —E-TF-—HA-+_-HZE 40,000
—A=-+=H —EZRF—HA=Z+—H
Total
wEt 85,020

The fair value of the options granted in 2016
determined using the binomial option pricing model was
approximately HK$0.127, HK$0.148 and HK$0.171 per
share respectively. The significant inputs into the model
were share price of HK$0.455 as at the grant date,
exercise price as shown above, volatility of 40.99%,
40.97% and 42.56%, expected life of options of seven
and six years, and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.993%,
1.056% and 1.184% respectively. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price returns
is based on the historical volatility of the Company's share
price over a period of eight, seven and six years before the
date when the options were granted.

THRREEBERLAT 20245 FH 171

HA-ZEAHEEEER -
R-E—AEREERE
EETRAFEINNESE
f%0.1277% 7T ~ 0.1487% T &
017187 - BRXAAME K
WABEBEARBREBHZ
% {80.455% 7T ~ £ KRR
TEE - » 5 £40.99% -
40.97% K42.56% 2 % 0E -
BEREI>NALELFERANF
Z2HEAEHUR D B A
0.993% - 1.056% }1.184%
ZERBERE o HEHRK
BEERNEEEZFTENKIE
VERE- 9 NG =N =
EEBHZANE - £FK
NEHEZEL KR -
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(continued) (#)

31

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(0

Share option scheme (Continued)

Following the expiry of the Original Share Option Scheme, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme pursuant to
a resolution passed by the shareholder at the annual general
meeting on 15 June 2023 (“the New Share Option Scheme”),
which was valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of adoption.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its
discretion offer options to any eligible participant to any eligible
participant who is an employee, executive or officer of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme or any other schemes, including the new share
award scheme adopted at the same meeting (note (d) in this
note), must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the share of the
Company in issued as at the adoption date (i.e. 15 June 2023).

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in any
12-nmonth period shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares
in issue on the date of offer of an option.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days
after the date of the offer, with a consideration of HK$1 for the
grant thereof. Exercise period in respect of the options granted
shall be determined by the Board and in any event such period
of time shall not exceed a period of 10 years commencing the
date upon which such option is deemed to be granted and
accepted.

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant under the New Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in
any event shall not be less than the highest of: (a) the official
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; and (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of an option.

No share options were granted to employees for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(d)

Share award scheme

On 4 November 2011, the Board approved the adoption of a
share award scheme (“the “Original Share Award Scheme”)
with the objective to recognise the contributions by eligible
employees within the Group and give incentives in order to
retain them for their continuing operation and development
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. The Original Share Award Scheme was effective from
the date of adoption on 4 November 2011 and expired on 4
November 2021 accordingly.

Following the expiry of the Original Share Award Scheme, the
Company adopted a new share award scheme pursuant to
a resolution passed by the shareholder at the annual general
meeting on 15 June 2023 (“the New Share Award Scheme”),
which was valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of adoption.

Under the New Share Award Scheme, the Board may at its
discretion grant an award to any eligible participants who is
an employee or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries after
taking into account various factors as they deem appropriate
for participation and determine the number of shares to
be awarded, at nil consideration. Award to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of
their respective associates, under the New Share Award Scheme
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors,
except when any such grant of awards would result in the shares
issued and to be issued in respect of all awards granted to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant, representing in aggregate over 1 % of the relevant
class of shares of the Company in issue, in such case approval
from shareholder in general meeting is required.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards granted under all the schemes
(including under the New Share Award Scheme and the New
Share Option Scheme) shall not in aggregate exceeds 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption (i.e. 15 June 2023).

FE B HmRMEE
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31 RAS -~ BBIRERR A REE
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(d)
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(continued) (#)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(d) Share award scheme (Continued)

The Trustee appointed for the sole purpose of holding the
shares underlying awards issued on trust for eligible participants
pursuant to the New Share Award Scheme shall hold the shares
until they are vested (Note 35(c)). When the relevant eligible
grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the Board
at the time of making the award and becomes entitled to the
award shares, the Trustee shall transfer the legal and beneficial
ownership of such award shares to that grantee.

For awardees who cease employment with the Group before
vesting, the unvested shares are forfeited. The forfeited shares
are then returned to the Trustee.

No awards were granted to employees for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: same).
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 32 HEaREEH (&)
Senior
Borrowings notes Leases Total
EE BERE HE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T THL
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZ%
+-A=1+-H (4,735,713) (3,665,479) (51,632) (8,452,824)
Financing cash flows BERETE (27,681) 668,495 13,744 654,558
Interest expenses MEBRA (50,727) (2,382) (2,301) (55,410)
Inception of lease contracts REESNHEE — - (10,100) (10,100)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMNERE 101,790 - 10,777 112,567
As at 31 December 2023 WZEZ=&
+-A=+-H (4,712,331) (2,999,366) (39,512) (7,751,209)
Financing cash flows BERETE (1,046,043) 121,902 11,774 (912,367)
Interest expenses MEBRA (20,001) (2,516) (1,591) (24,108)
Inception of lease contracts REEEHRRE - - (8,817) (8,817)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNER R 116,088 - 5,114 121,202
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZEE
+-A=+-H (5,662,287) (2,879,980) (33,032) (8,575,299)
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(continued) (#)

33

34

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments outstanding not
provided for at the date of statement of financial position:

33 AIE

RPERREBEE AT REHEN
%EﬁéK%ﬁ

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E_gE T =4
t+t=A=t+—H +=A=+—~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for: BEETAVEREE -
Property, plant and equipment and Investment  #)% - &= Mk E &
accounted for using the equity method FRAEREARZEE 30,263 255,242

In September 2022, the Group entered into an agreement with
certain independent third parties in relation to the establishment
and management of 7§ % ¥ & 8 JR . The Group is required to
contribute RMB192,000,000 (equivalents to HK$211,200,000) in
kind to the registered capital of 7§ 2 # % 8 JR before 2030. As at
31 December 2023, the commitment outstanding not provided for is
RMB 192,000,000 (equivalents to HK$211,200,000).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence.
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the directors are of the view that the following
individuals and companies are related parties who had
transactions with the Group during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023:

Name of the related parties

Principal business activities

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

34 BBEERARS (4B)

() BREFEEMBmMEHMIDAIKEE
Sh  EERAUTEARARAR
HE-Z-_MFER-_ZT_=F+_H
=T —HIEFEEEEEF R HH
o

Relationship with the Group

)R FTEEBTED HEE @M E R
B EER Trading of natural gas Associate
BB EEIR AAREE N
BEILFE Trading of natural gas Associate
BEILmE AAREE N
s I B A7 Trading of natural gas Associate
s I B A7 RAAREE /N
B Rk Trading of natural gas Associate
B Rk RAREE /N
BKE#E Trading of natural gas Associate
BRER AAREE Bk 8 N &)
FAE IR Trading of natural gas Associate
[ RAREE 3N
Sino Director Limited Investment holding Associate
Sino Director Limited REER = W/NE|
Fs 7| A% 1 Investment holding Associate
Fes 7| I 19 REER /NG|

hARREBERAT 204E58 {77
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3 BHMIARG (&
Name of the related parties Principal business activities Relationship with the Group
S EE A FEEBEH HEEENEEF
Moral High Limited Investment holding Jointly controlled by Chairman of
(“Moral High") the Board, Chief Executive Officer

of the Company, and controlling
shareholder of the Company and
Executive director of the Company

EEERAR(ES]) REZEKR HEFEREIF  ARTBRAERLAF
ZARIRER A R A Bl 1T EE S AR
Sino Advance Holdings Limited Investment holding Controlled by Chairman of the
(”Sino Advance”) Board, Chief Executive Officer of

the Company, and controlling
shareholder of the Company

Sino Advance Holdings Limited REER HEEREF  QARTTHRAZ KA
([Ssino Advance]) 128 A IS 3R 42 1

Sino Vantage Management Limited Investment holding Controlled by Chairman of the
(“Sino Vantage”) Board, Chief Executive Officer of

the Company, and controlling
shareholder of the Company

Sino Vantage Management Limited REER HEEREF  ARTHRAZKAA)
([sino Vantage]) 2% % A% B %

Alpha Finance Holdings Limited Investment holding Controlled by Chairman of the
(“Alpha Finance”) Board, Chief Executive Officer of

the Company, and controlling
shareholder of the Company

Alpha Finance Holdings Limited REER HEEREF  ARTTHRAZK K AR
(I'Alpha Finance ) 7= % AR R 12
Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr. Xu") N/A Chairman of the Board, Chief

Executive Officer of the Company,
and controlling shareholder of the

Company
PR R e ([Frk 4D TR EERFERE  ARTHARKRARIE
% A B
Ms. Guan Yijun N/A Executive director of the Company
BEE L+ TE R NARITES
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

Transactions with related parties

34 FAR4

R (&

(b) EEBAEEIHIR S

(continued) (#&)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial Brér e BRI o P i 58
statements, the following transactions were undertaken by the HON o REEBEBSETUTR
Group with related parties: 2 -
2024 2023
—E-NF —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sales and distribution of natural gas HE RBERAR K
and other related products HiAEE®D
B EER B BER 6,625 57,487
B B IR — 238
s 7 AR 19 s A AR 19 44,585 32,997
M e EN 64,987 55,145
EXES BKE R 3,636 3,439
FEH K (IR 8 330
=PIk AR =Pk ge R 273 —
Loan interest income from Sino Director ~ 3& BSino Director Limited&J
Limited BRFEHA 69,791 81,496
Financial guarantee income K B B AR 7Y
from BsH A7 (Note 6) EF IS HE R IR (BT 5E75) 205 7,877
Purchase of construction material for M BN R BRI B B
pipeline from B A% 1D EEM P (123) (25,640)
Purchase of natural gas HERAR
EmoKE & EKE R (209,795) (179,547)
R EER BB EER — (244)
Purchase of coal from Sino [AISino Director Limited
Director Limited R K — (5,907)

THRREEERAF
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(continued) (#)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(@

(d)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group issued certain corporate
guarantees in respect of certain bank borrowings of Shandong
Shengli (see Note 3.2(b)(vi)).

Transactions with key management personnel

The directors of the Company are considered as key
management personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the
key management personnel is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. Details of the remuneration paid to them are set
out in Note 11.

Balance with related parties

An amount of US$1,500,000, US$500,000 and US$1,000,000
of the US$400,000,000 4.7% senior notes of the Company
due 2026 is held through Moral High, Alpha Finance and Sino
Vantage respectively.
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35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of

B 315

(continued) (#&)

35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE

(@) EEMBLARFFMOT :

establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BRIRE/
£ ERAL/ RIBEREEEEEA IMEANEE BERAAANEEEAL  TEEH
Directly Indirectly
ER A%
Profaith Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Profaith Group Limited EEARREE NEBELE (E RARK
All Praise Investment Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 100.0% —  Investment holding
Al Praise Investment Limited EBEBRES NEEALE %7 RERR
China Oil And Gas Group Limited  BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Uss1 100.0% —  Investment holding
PRRREEERAA ARABRES NBEALE (B RERRK
China Oil And Gas Management  Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
PRRREEARAT BENEBELR [ RERRK
Alta Financial Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
BReHEEERAR EBARARES NBBELEK 1,000%7 RERR
Zhongda Industrial Group Inc BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 = 100.0%  Investment holding
PAIXEEARAT REABREE HEBELR 10,000% ¢ RARK
China Oil And Gas Group Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
(Asia) Limited enterprise
TARAEE (EH) ARAR BE NEBELR 1% RERR
Hong Kong China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Group Limited enterprise
EAMRREEEERAT BE NEBELR 1% RERRK
Accelstar Pacific Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$50,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Accelstar Pacific Limited EEARREE NEBELE 50,0005t RARHK
Plentigreat Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Plentigreat Holdings Limited ERABRES NEEALE 10,000% T RERR
Vast China Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 = 100.0%  Investment holding
Vast China Group Limited AEERRNE NEBELE %7 REARR
Sino Invent Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Uss1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Sino Invent Holdings Limited RESRRES NEBALE %7 RARRK
PR REMERESEERAE  PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise RMB1,000,000,000 = 51.0%  Investment holding and trading

("CCNG")
AP RMRRAEEERLT
(TR %)

HENEEELE

AKH1,000,000,0007T
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35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE
BB2w1E (&)

35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
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(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLAEFEBOT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ERTRE/
8 ARAL/ RIBERERERER dMEANEE HERAANEREIN  IEER
Directly  Indirectly
EH# ik
EERARRBREALA PRC, limited liability company RMB65,874,000 - 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas, gas
pipeline construction and
operation of natural gas
stations
EEMRRAEREEAT hE ERELRT ARH65,874,0007T i:ii’ﬁé MAEERERR
RRULEE
EALHMAEERRIR PRC, limited liability company RMB44,000,000 - 40.8%()  Gas pipeline construction
BREAAA
ﬁf?‘ﬂﬁ’)‘ﬁ EERRIRARE TE BEREMLA AR 44,000,000 MRgERE
Af]
] /W/EHWEﬁ%ﬁfﬁEE BAF  PRC, limited liability company RMB20,800,000 = 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas
EEMAEERARHE HE EREALAH AR 20,800,000 ARREE
REZREEERA PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas-related
(AT - @§¢5Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ’&ﬂ) equipment
RESHBEEARAA hE ERALAT ARH10,000,0007 AAREBRERE
(IR AERRBEERAA)
BREAARABREALA PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 = 30.6%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BRMARAEREEA hE EREEAT AR 100,000,007 AMREERMREERE
BMTERABREAR PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 - 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BN ARRARALA hE EREEAT AR 50,000,000 AREERMAEERE
BRTBMAEREAL PRC, limited liability company RMB25,000,000 - 50.5%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ERPAMEEREMA hE FREAAH AR 25,000,000 AAREERNAEBRE
RETARRBRERR PRC, limited liability company RMB45,000,000 - 30.6%(i)  Natural gas transmission through
pipeline
AEPAREEREER HE - BRALAR AR 845,000,000 EERRAE R
NP RRRBERERR PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 0% Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
M AREEREERA hE AREAAR AR 100,000,000 ARREERRAEERE
BNTHZEZHRTARAE  PRC, limited liability company RMB22,000,000 - 40.8%()  Trading of natural gas
(B8 : BRBERMRERAR)
ANTAZREAMRAARAR  TH BREAAA AR 22,000,000 AAREE
(R : AZSEARRERLR)
bR R (58) ARAA PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 - 100.0%  Transportation services
TRTRIR ORE) ARAR HEl - BREAAH AR75,000,0007 ERRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

(continued) (#&)

35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE
RB2HE (#)

(Continued)
Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (@) EEMBARFBWOT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BRIRE/
A8 HRAL/ RIS REEEEER dMEANEE BERAANEREIN  IEER
Directly ~ Indirectly
EH# %

EAPHEEREERAR PRC, limited liability company RMB32,000,000 - 51.0%  Natural gas transmission through
pipeline

BT HEERRARAT nE - BREMAR AR#32,000,0007 EEAAREL

MR EEERARER AT PRC, limited liability company RMB111,000,000 = 47.1%()  Gas pipeline design and
construction, natural gas
transmission through pipeline

MR REBRARERAA HE - AREMALT ARE111,000,0007 Wﬁgﬁ&ﬁ&@ﬁ CEEAR

BIPERRERELAR PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 - 35.7%(0)  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

FYhAMRERELLR nE - BREMAR AR20,000,0007 AAREERMAEERE

FRPR(FY)AEFERAR  PRC, limited liability company RMB71,000,000 = 51.0%  Investment holding

PERR(R)MERERAR  RE ARALAA ARE71,000,0007 RERER

kR REREEAR PRC, limited liability company RMB67,910,000 - 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas and gas
p|pe|me construction

Ltk mk e EREERA HE EREALA ARE67,910,0007 ARREERMAEERE

itk RAREB AT PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 35.7%() Tradmg of natural gas

Utk R ARER AT hE EREEAT AR 2,000,000 AAREE

RERFHRMRABRAE (AT PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 = 35.7%()  Trading of natural gas and gas

RERATARRARRALT) pipeline construction
RERTPHRMRERAR (B m% nE - BREEAR ARH75,000,0007 ARREERMREERE
RERATARREREALLR)

BEGERREERRARAE  PRC limited liability company RMB50,000,000 = 40.8%(i)  Gas pipeline design and
construction

[ils #:/Eaﬂiﬂfl%au%ﬂﬁ RAR  HEAREEAF ARH50,000,0007 MREBRHRRE

BRAERRBRA PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise HK$ 187,500,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding, construction
of natural gas stations and
trading of natural gas

BRRERRERAT ME NEBALK 187,500,000% 7T RABKR RARBBERRA
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

BB ()

35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE

(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLAEFEBOT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BRIRE/
8 ARAL/ RIS REEEESER HMEANEE SEROANEREIN  ITER
Directly  Indirectly
B k4
R ERRAR A PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RIMB18,000,000 - 80.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
LR ERRARA HE MNRERELE ARH18,000,0007 ARREERMAEERE
PERRREE Iﬁﬁﬁ QNAFTE  PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise U5$75,000,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
ARAEREERRAF)
PR RRASEERAR (MET RE NHBELE 75,000,000 T RARMK
B (ER)RERRAR)
BREGREREARAT PRC, limited liability company 15$29,000,000 = 100.0%  Provision for finance
ERERREAREERAT HE ERAELH 29,000,000%7T RHRE
NEERREREARAT PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB170,000,000 - 100.0% Provision for finance
HEEFRAAEERAT HE MIRERELE AR#170,000,0007C RERE
AN RBRERRA PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RIMB40,000,000 - 38.8%(i)  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BN REREEAT HE MMRERELE AR 40,000,000 AAREERMAEERE
EETRTTIXRERMA PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB26,000,000 - 60.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
BRAT pipeline construction
%qJEEE?ﬂI% BIR mE IEERELE AE%26,000,0007 ARREERMEEERE
RAF
BRTHRRERETAR PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB50,000,000 - 75.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BRTANRERALLT HE MINRERELE ARH50,000,0007 AAREERMRERRE
SHATMRLA PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB284,400,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
SR TR AR HE MR ERELE AR 284,400,007 AAREERMREERE
Bl 591%7@'5&@ ] PRC, limited liability company RMB11,480,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
BLR AR RERAR HE - AREFAT ARE11,480,0007 ARREE
ERTRMAERAR PRC, limited liability company RMB35,920,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
x%%?/ﬁiﬁ*;ﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬂ HEl - BRALAR AR 35,920,000 ARREE
BERREERAR PRC, limited liability company RMB270,000,000 - 100%  Coal processing and sales of coal
derived energy and related
product
EEDRRICERAR hE - BRELAH AR#270,000,0007C RRMIREERARRERAE
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35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE

RB2HE (#)

(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLATFEBUT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
BRIRE/
A8 ERAL/ AIbEREEERER dMEANEE BERAANEREIN  IEER
Directly ~ Indirectly
EH# %
R RRRBRAR PRC, limited liability company RMB63,900,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
R RRRERAT hE - BREMAR AR 863,900,007 ARREE
Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada CAD 141,040,000 - 100.0%  Exploitation and distribution of
crude oil and natural gas
Baccalieu Energy Inc. nex 141,040,000107C RRRD HRERAAR
Notes: Bt 5 -

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

The Group holds controlling interests in these subsidiaries through
a 51.0% owned subsidiary, CCNG. Therefore the Group has
control over these entities and they are considered as subsidiaries
of the Company.

The Group holds controlling interests in this subsidiary through
CCNG and a wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong China Oil and
Gas Group Limited (“HKCOGG"). Therefore the Group has control
over this entity and it is considered as subsidiary of the Company
since the Group owns more than half of the voting rights in this
subsidiary and the decisions are made by simple majority.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

(i) EEFEBHEBSI0%EZNH B
AARBEFPRBEZSEHMEA
Al iER c At - SEEA
ZEERWEGE mMZSE
BEEAAARNMBAR -

(i) HSEBBTHPRERZENE
RAEBFHERREBAER A
A ([BEPEMRR]) 5HZM
BRBERER ARNSEHE
EZWB AR BFERERE
BUBERSHEELRE -
BWEBHZERERZESZ
VRERARRZHMBRRA -

(i) BEERR  LRMIARNE
RATBEERAFEEERHA
SEEEFEERND - EF
RE - REEGMBARZF
BEEHRRIE -
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35 FEMBRARIRSZEFEEE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES B2FHIE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial (b) UTHEHIPHHRREMMBAR (B
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non- BHEEMEBEARZFIZRER)
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The FREMHEREE - THERAR
information below is the amount before inter-company AR EAI 2 58 ¢

eliminations:

2024 2023

—E-IEF ZT==F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FH&T FHET

Total assets REE 12,579,515 12,964,814
Total liabilities afEes (5,975,569) (6,421,657)
Net assets BESE 6,603,946 6,543,157
Revenue S 11,687,005 11,853,014
Profit for the year F A 3 A 1,147,947 958,515
Other comprehensive income H 2k (752,995) (458,787)
Total comprehensive income 2HEN AR 394,952 499,728
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests S 15 f% B 5 3E 2 lG A 25 368,968 223,462
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A B TS R R MY G

(continued) (#&)

35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35 FEMBLARIRZEFIEEE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES Bz E (&)

(Continued)

(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial (b) UTHEIFHPEREMBAR (B
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non- BHEEMEBEARZFIZRES)
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The REMBEREE - THRERBLD
information below is the amount before inter-company AEE A 28 - ()
eliminations: (Continued)

CCNG CCNG
A R 2R FoRH 2R
2024 2023
—E g —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Net cash generated from operating KEXBEEZRESFRE
activities 1,421,594 546,316
Net cash generated used in investing HREESMARSFE
activities (523,369) (211,941)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBMA RS FE (910,282) (883,183)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBEEEEBEWR D TR
cash equivalents (12,057) (548,808)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January WR—HA—BZHE&K
REEEEAR 2,014,472 2,628,109
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [E R & B) 5/ 2 (64,459) (64,829)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+ZA=+—RHzZH& R
31 December ReHEEA 1,937,956 2,014,472
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

35 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35 FEMBRAAIRZEFERE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES Rz E (&)

(Continued)

() Details of the controlled structured entity are as follows: () ZEFEHBERFBUT
The Company controls a structured entity which operates in AEEH —HETALENER
Hong Kong, particulars of which are as follows: B AFFBOT
Structured entities Principal activities
HEER FTEEK
Best Thinker Limited (“Trustee”) Purchases, administers and holds the Company’s shares for the Restricted

Share Award Scheme for the benefit of eligible employees of the Group

Best Thinker Limited ([ Z5EAJ) REBESEREENSEREMRNDEBASEA EERRFERRKD

As the Trustee is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing,
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the
Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 31(c)), the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the Trustee and it can derive benefits from the services of
the employees who have been awarded the Restricted Shares
through their continued employment with the Group. The assets
and liabilities of the Trustee are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position from its adoption and the
Company's shares held by the Trustee are presented as a
deduction in equity as “shares held for share award scheme”.

36 APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025.
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 RAIFBEARRT
COMPANY
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=F
t=A=+—H = Hf+ H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5E F#ET FHT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Intangible assets ,{B\ﬁﬁéfﬁ 1,702 1,702
Interests in subsidiaries NNz NGRS 4,388,239 4,681,484
4,389,941 4,683,186
Current assets mENE E
Other receivables H fh fE R IR 49,856 25,255
Cash and cash equivalents e MReEEEE 145,012 157,920
194,868 183,175
Total assets BmEE 4,584,809 4,866,361
Current liabilities nBBaE
Other payables H A & A IR 572,390 572,159
Short-term borrowings HEEE — 2,283,720
572,390 2,855,879
Non-current liabilities EnBEE
Senior notes BAEZR 3,093,957 3,090,171
Long term borrowings RHEE 2,394,611 —
5,488,568 3,090,171
Total liabilities wafd 6,060,958 5,946,050
Equity 1
Equity attributable to owners of NEEA NEGER
the Company
Share capital [N 31 56,368 56,368
Reserves s 38 (1,532,517) (1,136,057)
Total equity i (1,476,149) (1,079,689)
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by RAIMBRARER = _RAF=A
the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf. T+ —HEESRHATHATEER
Xu Tie-liang Guan Yijun
Director Director Eig = BEE
EE o
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(continued) (#)

38 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 38 NREI#E
Capital Shares held Share-hased Exchange (Note 31(b)
Share redemption forshare  compensation fluctuation Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium reserve  award scheme reserve reserve surplus losses Total
AROZE  NRHAEH EiRE (RE31(b)
RfteE  EAREER  HEFRRG WEehfk 1 R4zH 2B it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK§000 HK$'000

TR TEL TAn T TR TR TR TAn

At 1 January 2023 AZ%zz%

-R-H 13,208 (53301) (377,947) 1,241 (18479 1,447 454 (1,818.263) (796,084)
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - - (339973) (339.973)
At 31 December 2023 n-%2=

t2A=1-R 13,08 (53302) (3717.947) 11,201 (18,475) 1,447,454 (2,158,236) (1,136,057)
Loss for he year EmEE - - - - - - (396,460) (396,460)
At 31 December 2024 AZRzmE

t2f=t-8 13,208 (53,300) (377.947) 11,41 (18.475) 1,447,454 (2,554,69) (1532517)
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the group
consisting of China Oil and Gas Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

(@) Subsidiaries

(@

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

1

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#)
39 EMBEERS T HERBE

AMEHINEHZEEREMBHRRE
RAZEMBEEANGAHARE - K5
BHPAN  ZEBRDEBERRAA
BEE - AUBHRERDIREE (HHH
MREBBER AR REMNMEB 2= ARK)

mE -

MEAREEENELARE
HENEB (BREEBLEER
B EfER2HEZER
i %A # B HAERREE
BRA - YEENEBEY
ZERBNENIZELFER
B SETHZER -
MEAREZHNEEREES
EzREGEAAR - HBA
RIEZEHEL L BREFL
A Ak -

(1) EBEH

SEXRBEBEIHKE
BaAK - BKRE
M B oA WE B R
ERKBEITORESR
AFBEREE  ME
EMEBREEET
MR AREEN A FE -
PrEgEe R ERRExK
RAREBERHERMELED
TMEEXBEBENR
FE - EXBAHT
P U B8 AT 38 Bl B B E
ARFrEENAENR
ZERE S BAENUK
EREBREHAD QT
Bt & -
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HtBEAEERETHERE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#)
(Continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (Continued) (a) MEBERE (&)
() Consolidation (Continued) () AEEE (&)
(1) Business combinations (Continued) (1) EBStE

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.
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26 B I R R MY RE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

) Consolidation (Continued)

Q)]

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

39

(continued) (#&)

HBEERS T HRBE

(&)

(a)

MELE (F)

()

AREERE ()

(1) EBEHER

PrEEAE  REK
875 B (] 3F £ R AR
= 8 R E A AR
Ok RN
BRAENLQAFES R
P U BB T 9 R B E %
BEOHRFEER HZ
BABEIER - B&
EBEMST @ WHEE
RE EBRRFEZR
R aR Nk AT R R R
& 4R K 70 P U BB Y
BRAREEFENR
FE EEZBEHEE
EREANER o

EERRAFZHEBR
5 BHREXZHE
BT A
AEBEEBEBETTUY
Mo MmBMKE - KB
RAERENSAD K
FEFHARE - AE
RESERANH G
B —5 -
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HhBEERSHBEHE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued) (a) MIEAR (&)
() Consolidation (Continued) () AEEE (&)
(2) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries 2 TEERIEEGHEZ
without change of control MEBARIFMEERERSE
B
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do & &K KSR
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as ZHEEREZRH A
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the RIE#RZR S — Bl
owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. LA E A B E %
The difference between fair value of any consideration EAZEHEER A
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying ETRS - FE@EH
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in RERATFEERKE
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling RN B RFE
interests are also recorded in equity. EFfEREEZER
P EHERS o MIEIERR
ERHEMBRAEB M
FIIEHE R o
(3) Disposal of subsidiaries 3) HEKBARA

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, a joint venture or a
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
(i) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

FE B HmRMEE

(continued) (#&)

HBEERS T HRBE

(&)

(a)

(b)
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FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group
has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined
it to be joint venture. Joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The
Group's investment in joint venture include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest
in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint
venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B B 3% 3R R B 5E

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@

(d)

Joint arrangement (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint venture have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the interest in the joint venture is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investment accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 30 HEEERETHEME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (4
(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (e) IEBE

() Functional and presentation currency () DEERZEHEK
Items included in the financial statements of each of EESEBEECYBHREME
the Group's entities using the currency of the primary FHEE  DEZEBLE
economic environment in which the entity operates FEZEELBERREZER
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial ([Thee BB 5T E - RRAE
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s MR ERUARNB 2R E
functional and the Group’s presentation currency. Bz2REEBTEY -

(i) Transactions and balances (i) XBREE

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss within
“administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Transaction
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equity held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equity classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(ii) - Group companies

The results and financial position of all the foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

—  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year
end closing rate. Currency translation differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

()

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iv)  Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill or
intangible assets not ready to use — are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwiill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HMEEERSTBEME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#)
(Continued)
(g) Investments and other financial assets () BERHMESRMEE
(i) Classification (i D

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity investments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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26 B I R R MY RE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iir)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

3 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in “other
(losses)/gains, net” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other
(losses)/gains, net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “other (losses)/
gains, net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in profit or loss.
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26 B I R R MY RE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(itr)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 4.2(b) for further details.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

0]

)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and other direct costs. It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sales and
distribution of oil and natural gas and other related products or
gas pipeline construction and connection services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in value.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U}

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as part of finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 EMBEERS T HERBE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
(p) Employee benefits () EERA
(i) Retirement benefit costs () RIEEFIEAL

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the provincial
governments.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those qualifying employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, contributions to the
scheme by the Group and the employees are calculated
as a percentage of employee’s relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
retirement benefit scheme costs charged to consolidated
profit or loss represent contributions payable by the
Group in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HBEE RS BERBLE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
(p) Employee benefits (Continued) (p) 1EEREF (&
(i) Employee entitlements (i) (ESEEEF
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service EEEGZFBRERBRE
payment are recognised when they accrue to the CREFTEERER - 3t
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability HEMBRAKBHARE
for annual leave and long service payment as a result of RERBMESZFBRER
services rendered by employees up to the statement of HRBe  BhHTEHARE
financial position date. i fE B o
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or EEESZRBRERIX
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave. FTREBREEDNRES TE
o,
(i) Share-based payments (i) KR BERZ T

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of share options or restricted shares is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options or restricted
shares granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);
and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to save
or holding shares for a specified period of time).
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26 B I R R MY RE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iir)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options or restricted shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At
the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options or restricted shares
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Share option scheme

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity.

(iir)

(continued) (#&)
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Share-based payments (Continued)
Share award scheme

When restricted shares are granted, the fair value of
restricted shares are recognised as expense with a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the vesting
period.

Where the Group purchases the Company’s shares from
the market, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held
for award scheme” and deducted from total equity.

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

()

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, its associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date
of the statement of financial position and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HhBEERSHBEHE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#&)

(Continued)

()  Current and deferred income tax (Continued) (n EHRELREH (&)

(i) Deferred income tax (Continued) (i) EALFTEH (4E)
Inside basis differences (Continued) REEREE (A
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the RIS EEERB A
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be BE HR 15 FE AR B s B B A =
available against which the temporary differences can be A A ERAR - 7T
utilised. R oo
Outside basis differences HNBERER
Deferred income tax liability is provided on temporary RIEFSRAGBRAWNEA
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, A BERARIREERRZ
associates and joint venture, except for deferred income BREEECERMEEZETIE
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the BE - HEBAEHRELEY
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is FMEZEARR - mMEEYE
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in EBEAE A A R G Rk
the foreseeable future. B ZIEZEMREGHERERIN -
Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible B AA - BEAARA
temporary differences arising from investments in ERRIRREE SRR R
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the ERMERERRERSN
extent that it is probable the temporary difference will BEE r BERBERERMES
reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit ReAlgeE B REE - WH R
available against which the temporary difference can be B ) FEER A AR K 45 BT A A9
utilised. EREERE o
(i) Offsetting (i)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising that option
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party financing was received,
and makes adjustments specific to the lease.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
Group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

()

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties,
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less without a purchase option.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred government
grants and are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially
measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. The fair value of financial
guarantees is determined based on the present value
of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the
cost of the investment.

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for the
sale and distribution of natural gas and other related products,
provision of gas pipeline construction and connection services,
production and sales of coal derived clean and other related
products and exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas, net of value-added taxes.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to be
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Revenue (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract as a contract asset or contract liability in
the consolidated financial statement of position, depending
on the relationship between the Group’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods that the Group has transferred to a customer.
Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalised and presented as assets and subsequently
amortised when the related revenue is recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment
is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier).
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer the
promised goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods
and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the goods and services is transfer if the Group’s
performance:

o provides all the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

o Direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

o The Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity described below:

) Sales and distribution of natural gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers,
which generally coincides with the time when gas is
transmitted and used by the customer, and is based on the
gas consumption derived from meter readings. Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately at the point the
customer consumes the gas. Payments received in advance
on pre-paid I/C cards that are related to sales of natural
gas not yet delivered are recognised as contract liabilities
and deferred in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(i) Gas pipeline construction and connection

The Group provides gas pipeline construction and
connection services to its end-customers under fixed-price
contracts. Revenue from the provision of gas pipeline and
construction and connection service is recognised over
time as the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation over time,
by measuring the progress using output method on the
basis of direct measurements of the value the customer
of the promised goods or services transferred to date
certified by internal engineers, relative to the value of total
goods or services promised under the contract with the
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time only
if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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(continued) (#)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 39 HhBEERSHBEHE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
(v)  Revenue (Continued) (v) =%z (&)

(i) Gas pipeline construction and connection (Continued) (i) MREEEERER ()
Estimates of costs or extent of progress towards MEREE « KANKE TR
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any EELA 2 EETEE T URE
changes in estimation of progress are reflected in profit or Al o EEMZEMEFHR
loss in the period which the circumstances that give rise to EEEMERTEELEITZ
the revision become known by management. HEzBEEPRE o
The customers are required to pay in advance for full or EFEABRBNRFHEREN
certain contract amount based on a payment schedule. If 2HMEHLEHNEE - ME
the services rendered by the Group exceed the payment, EREMRBEBLZE - A
a contract asset is recognised. If the payment exceeds the BRAENEE - WREBLY
services rendered, a contract liability is recognised. REORYE - BEREOE

f& o

(i) Revenue from production and sales of coal derived clean (i) EERBEREEGZERRHE
energy and other related products 1t 5B AT A2 A
The revenue from sales of syngas and related products HERERBEELMNEK
during coal gasification progress is measured based REBBAEROBRAKRE RN
on the price specified in the contract. The revenue will BMEZERTE - ZBAR
be recorded at a point of time when the contract is EHEBBREREFPREMNE —F
transferred to the customers. BONER -

(iv)  Revenue from exploitation and production of crude oil and (i) FIFRR AL B IR B R K A7 T 12

natural gas

The revenue from the sales of crude oil, natural gas
and natural gas liquids is measured based consideration
specified in contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when customers obtain
legal title to the oil and gas which is when it is physically
transferred to pipeline or other transportation method
agreed upon.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue (Continued)

(v)

Sales of equipment

Revenue from sales of equipment is recognised when
control of the equipment has transferred, being when
the equipment is delivered to the customers, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
equipment has been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the equipment in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term
of 60 to 90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

No refund liability and right to the returned equipment is
recognised as insignificant amount of returns is expected
based on previous experience.

A receivable is recognised when the equipment is delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

(v)
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Five Year Financial Summary
IFMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and restated or reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

NTHNEENBELBERIBRFEZEER
EERBEME  DRFKECTEZEEZ
BB RLKLBINXTUNEREE D -

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t+-BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —E-=& —E-= —E-—F —ECEF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT THAT TAT TAT
(Restated)
(mE7)
Revenue L 17,655,191 18,527,804 17,296,675 14,341,948 10,432,777
Profit before taxation B B A& 7 1,019,652 720,539 1,576,501 1,990,560 630,916
Taxation BiI8 (318,490) (340,385) (388,688) (476,626) (115,601)
Profit for the year F 35 F 701,162 380,154 1,187,813 1,513,934 515,315
Attributable to: AT G -
Owners of the Company REEEA 180,771 (232,496) 730,144 904,182 28,757
Non-controlling interests R R 520,391 612,650 457,669 609,752 486,558
701,162 380,154 1,187,813 1,513,934 515,315
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-—8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —E-=F b “E-—F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT FAT FET FAET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&m&E7) (geE7)
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEE 20,696,082 20,841,051 21,709,615 21,881,079 19,270,335
Total liabilities BaE (13,484,495)  (13,279,109)  (13,859,069)  (14,002,306) (11,924,121)
Total equity EmEE 7,211,587 7,561,942 7,850,546 7,878,773 7,346,214
Non-controlling interests R (3,554,405) (3,743,726) (3,627,868) (3,680,083) (3,568,080)
Equity attributable to owners X% B A B
of the Company 3,657,182 3,818,216 4,222,678 4,198,690 3,778,134
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